
  City of Nevada City 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

THURSDAY, AUGUST 20, 2020 1:30 PM 
Council Chambers – City Hall 

317 Broad Street - Nevada City, CA  95959 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
•AUDIENCE MEMBERS DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE PLANNING COMMISSION ON ITEMS ON THE
AGENDA:  After recognition by the Chair, state your name, address and your comments or questions.  Please direct your
remarks to the Commission.  So that all interested parties may speak, please limit your comments to the item under discussion.
All citizens will be given the opportunity to speak, consistent with Constitutional rights.  Time limits are at the discretion of the
Chair.  •If you challenge the Commission’s decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those issues you
or someone else specifically raised or delivered in writing to the Planning Commission at or prior to the meeting.  •Requests
for disability-related modifications or accommodations may be made by contacting the City Planner and should be made at
least 72 hours prior to the meeting.
__________________________________________________________________________________________

Mission Statement 
The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town character 

 and historical architecture while providing quality public services 
 for our current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 

In order to minimize the spread of the COVID 19 virus Governor Newsom has issued Executive Orders that 
temporarily suspend requirements of the Brown Act.   Please be advised that the Council Chambers are 
closed to the public and that some, or all, of the City of Nevada City, City Council Members and Planning 
Commissioners may attend this meeting telephonically.  
1. You are strongly encouraged to observe the public meeting live on PUBLIC TELEVISION CHANNEL 17,
ONLINE AT THE CITY’S WEBSITE WWW.NEVADACITYCA.GOV. or Nevada City Public Meetings-YouTube
Channel or at
HTTP://NEVCO.GRANICUS.COM/PLAYER/CAMERA/2?PUBLISH_ID=7
2. If you wish to make a comment, please submit your comment via email at
NEVADACITY.OLSON@GMAIL.COM.
• Comments will be accepted at the email provided until 5pm the day before the meeting
• PLEASE INCLUDE REFERENCE TO “8/20 PC Meeting” IN YOUR SUBJECT LINE.
• For comments during the meeting subscribe to the City’s youtube channel Nevada City Public

Meetings and submit your public live comment during the meeting.  Please limit to 200 words or less.
Every effort will be made to read your comment into the record, but some comments may not be read
due to time constraints.

3. In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, if you need special assistance to
participate in this meeting, please contact the Deputy City Clerk at (530) 265-2496 x133.  Notification at least
48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to
this meeting.  [28 CFR 35.102.35.104 ADA Title II].  Language translation services are available for this
meeting by calling (714) 754-5225 at least 48 hours in advance. 
The City of Nevada City thanks you in advance for taking all precautions to prevent spreading the COVID 19 
virus.  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL Chair Josie Andrews, Vice-Chair Jason Rainey Commissioners, Peter Van Zant, Stuart Lauters, and 
David Bohegian 

APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES  

1. July 16, 2020 Regular Meeting

2. July 24, 2020 Special Meeting (to be provided)

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCXSQwrXtey12YIl3IbyGMYQ
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCXSQwrXtey12YIl3IbyGMYQ
http://nevco.granicus.com/player/camera/2?publish_id=7
mailto:NEVADACITY.OLSON@GMAIL.COM


August 20, 2020  PC 
Page 2 of 2 

HEARING FROM THE PUBLIC: Comments on items not on the agenda are welcome and are limited to three 
minutes.  However, action or discussion by the Commission may not occur at this time.  

SIGN APPLICATION/ZONE COMPATIBLITY 

3. 110 York Street – Liquid Gold Juicery

TREE REMOVAL

4. PG&E Tree Removal along West Broad Street and Orchard Street – 263 trees

ARCHITECTURAL REVEW

none 

DEMOLITION/ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW 

5. 414 Broad Street – Demolition of existing residence and rebuild of two-story residence

PUBLIC HEARING

6. 426 Broad Street – Use of outdoor patio for dining and refreshments

7. Draft Ordinance for administrative process of  commercial and residential back-up generators

DEPARTMENT REQUESTED

8. Commercial Street Phase II Improvements

PLANNING COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS –Previously approved projects – informational only

STAFF APPROVALS AND DETERMINATIONS – (for information only):

442 Brock – Tree Removal 
302 Gethsemane – Tree Removal 
422 Jordan – Tree Removal 
Pinecrest Condos – Deck replacements 
113 Perseverance Mine - Roof-mounted solar 
544 Broad Street- Roof-mounted solar 
442 South Pine – Tree removal (four dead trees) 
130 Orchard – residential generator 
606 Long – Reroof 
502 Spring – Residential Generator 

549 Brock – roof-mounted solar 
132 Grove – roof-mounted solar  
113 Perseverance Mine - roof-mounted solar  
442 Brock – tree removal (two trees) 
302 Gethsemane – tree removal (one tree) 
422 Jordan – Tree removal (one tree) 
Pine Crest Condos- Deck replacement (four units) 
544 East Broad - roof-mounted solar 
532 Main - Residential Generator 
363 Gracie - Residential Generator 

CORRESPONDENCE: 

ANNOUNCEMENTS:   

Next Regular Meeting – September 17, 2020 

ADJOURNMENT   



  City of Nevada City 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA   
THURSDAY, JULY 16, 2020 1:30 PM 

Council Chambers – City Hall 
317 Broad Street - Nevada City, CA  95959 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
•AUDIENCE MEMBERS DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE PLANNING COMMISSION ON ITEMS ON THE 
AGENDA:  After recognition by the Chair, state your name, address and your comments or questions.  Please direct your 
remarks to the Commission.  So that all interested parties may speak, please limit your comments to the item under discussion.  
All citizens will be given the opportunity to speak, consistent with Constitutional rights.  Time limits are at the discretion of the 
Chair.  •If you challenge the Commission’s decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those issues you 
or someone else specifically raised or delivered in writing to the Planning Commission at or prior to the meeting.  •Requests 
for disability-related modifications or accommodations may be made by contacting the City Planner and should be made at 
least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
          Mission Statement 

The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town character 
 and historical architecture while providing quality public services 

 for our current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 
 

In order to minimize the spread of the COVID 19 virus Governor Newsom has issued Executive Orders that 
temporarily suspend requirements of the Brown Act.   Please be advised that the Council Chambers are 
closed to the public and that some, or all, of the City of Nevada City, City Council Members and Planning 
Commissioners may attend this meeting telephonically.  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL Chair Josie Andrews, Vice-Chair Jason Rainey Commissioners, Peter Van Zant, Stuart Lauters, and 
David Bohegian 

APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES   

1. June 25, 2020 Special Meeting 

Motion by J. Rainey to approve as presented 
Seconded by D. Bohegian 
Vote: 5 ayes/ 0 noes; motion carries 
 
REORGANIZATION OF PLANNING COMMISSION 

2. Outgoing planning commissioners and chair remarks 

3. Swearing in and welcome new members of the Planning Commission: Laurie Oberholtzer and Nikaya Schwarz 

4. Selection of Chair and Vice Chair to Service Fiscal Year 2020-2021 

Motion by P. Van Zant to nominate Stuart Lauters to serve as planning commission chair 
Seconded by L. Oberholtzer 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 
Motion by L. Oberholtzer to nominate P. Van Zant to serve as planning commission vice-chair 
Seconded by N. Schwarz 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 

HEARING FROM THE PUBLIC: Comments on items not on the agenda are welcome and are limited to three 
minutes.  However, action or discussion by the Commission may not occur at this time.  

SIGN APPLICATION 



July 16, 2020  PC 
Page 2 of 4 
 

 

5. 115 South Pine –Cosmic Roots Market 

Motion by P. Van Zant to approve the sign as presented with the added condition below. 
Seconded by L. Oberholtzer 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 
ADDED CONDITION: Any exterior lighting fixture shall comply with outdoor lighting standards outlined in the City 
Municipal Code and shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission, acting as the Architectural Review Committee.  
 

TREE REMOVAL 

6. 225 Park Avenue – Eight trees 

Motion by L. Oberholtzer to approve tree removal as presented  
Seconded by N. Schwarz 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 

ARCHITECTURAL REVEW  

7. 426 Broad Street – Kosmos Spa, paint and fencing  

Motion by L. Oberholtzer to direct the applicant to consider a more traditional-style fence at 3.5 feet in height 
Seconded by P. Van Zant 
Vote: 2 ayes/ 1 noes (Schwarz)/ 1 recused (Lauters)/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 

Motion by L. Oberholtzer to approve the windows and doors as presented 
Seconded by N. Schwarz 
Vote: 3 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 recused (Lauters)/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 
Motion by L. P. Van Zant to approve the building paint option featuring the Newport Blue body and the Mopboard 
Black trim 
Seconded by N. Schwarz 
Vote: 2 ayes/ 1 noes (Oberholtzer)/ 1 recused (Lauters)/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 

Motion by L. Oberholtzer to approve the arbor as presented  
Seconded by N. Schwarz 
Vote: 3 ayes/ 0 noes)/ 1 recused (Lauters)/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 
Direction to Staff: To review the appropriateness of a Conditional Use Permit for the wellness spa use at this location 
and/or the outdoor use of the patio space 

Direction to the applicant: Consider traditional lettering on the sign 

CANNABIS BUSINESS APPLICATIONS 

8. Searls Group – Enclose upper level porch for storage and office use 

Motion by L. Oberholtzer to approve the upper level porch enclosure as presented 
Seconded by P. Van Zant 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 



July 16, 2020  PC 
Page 3 of 4 
 

 

9. 135 Argall Way – California Organics – Conditional Use Permit for a commercial back-up generator 

Motion by L. Oberholtzer determining this project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant 
to Section 15303 of the California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines, which exempts “small new 
equipment and facilities.” 
Seconded by N. Schwarz 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 
Motion by P. Van Zant to approve the Conditional Use Permit subject to Conditions of Approval, as provided 
below, or as may be modified at the public hearing, pursuant to Sections 17.88.20 and 17.68.210(C) of the 
Nevada City Municipal Code making findings, a-h 
Seconded by L. Oberholtzer 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 

10. Annexation 56 – Pre-zoning and General Plan Amendment for 32.5 acres at three distinct areas along Bourbon Hill 
Road and Gold Flat Road. 

Motion by L. Oberholzer recommending that City Council approve a Resolution for filing a Notice of 
Exemption for the General Plan land use designation amendment, the annexation,  and pre-zoning project 
pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) because it can be seen with certainty that there is no 
possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment making finding A in 
the staff report 
Seconded by P. Van Zant 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 

Motion by L. Oberholzer recommending that City Council adopt the Ordinance 2020-XX, approving the 
annexation of 35.2 acres of Nevada County territory into the City of Nevada City and pre-zoning the properties 
as provided in the Ordinance, as modified at the public hearing, making findings A-C in the staff report. 
Seconded by P. Van Zant 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 
PREZONING AND GENERAL PLAN MODIFICATION: The Planning Commission recommends that property 
located at 10114 Granholm Lane have a General Plan Land Use Designation of Employment Center (EC) and a 
corresponding prezone of Light Industrial (LI). 

 
Motion by L. Oberholzer recommending that City Council approve Resolution 2020-XX, initiating an 
annexation application with LAFCo for all that territory delineated in the map known as Annexation #56 
(Exhibit B of Resolution) and  making findings A-B in the staff report 
Seconded by P. Van Zant 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 

STAFF REQUESTED ITEMS 

11. Sphere of Influence Draft EIR- Recommend comments to City Council 

Motion by L. Oberholzer that the planning commission recommends that City Council recommend that LAFCo retain 
the current Nevada City Sphere of Influence boundary 
Seconded by P. Van Zant 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 



July 16, 2020  PC 
Page 4 of 4 
 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS –Previously approved projects – informational only 

STAFF APPROVALS AND DETERMINATIONS – (for information only): 

 715 Zion- Repaint building 
 King Hiram Lane – Bridge replacement (Woodbridge Apartments) 
 220 Nihell – Reroof 
 300 Boulder – Window Replacement 

322 Jordan – Tree Removal 
319 Park Avenue – rooftop solar 

 
CORRESPONDENCE:   

ANNOUNCEMENTS:    

Next Regular Meeting – August 20, 2020 

ADJOURNMENT   

Motion by S. Lauters to adjourn at 5:45 pm 
Seconded by L. Oberholtzer 
Vote: 4 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 vacant; motion carries 
 



  City of Nevada City 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION  
SPECIAL MEETING ACTION MINUETS   

FRIDAY, JULY 24, 2020 1:30 PM 
Council Chambers – City Hall 

317 Broad Street - Nevada City, CA  95959 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
•AUDIENCE MEMBERS DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE PLANNING COMMISSION ON ITEMS ON 
THE AGENDA:  After recognition by the Chair, state your name, address and your comments or questions.  
Please direct your remarks to the Commission.  So that all interested parties may speak, please limit your 
comments to the item under discussion.  All citizens will be given the opportunity to speak, consistent with 
Constitutional rights.  Time limits are at the discretion of the Chair.  •If you challenge the Commission’s 
decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else specifically 
raised or delivered in writing to the Planning Commission at or prior to the meeting.  •Requests for disability-
related modifications or accommodations may be made by contacting the City Planner and should be made at 
least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
          Mission Statement 

The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town character 
 and historical architecture while providing quality public services 

 for our current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 
 

In order to minimize the spread of the COVID 19 virus Governor Newsom has issued Executive 
Orders that temporarily suspend requirements of the Brown Act.   Please be advised that the Council 
Chambers are closed to the public and that some, or all, of the City of Nevada City, City Council 
Members and Planning Commissioners may attend this meeting telephonically.  
1. You are strongly encouraged to observe the public meeting live on PUBLIC TELEVISION 
CHANNEL 17,  ONLINE AT THE CITY’S WEBSITE WWW.NEVADACITYCA.GOV. or Nevada City Public 
Meetings-YouTube Channel or at  
HTTP://NEVCO.GRANICUS.COM/PLAYER/CAMERA/2?PUBLISH_ID=7 
2. If you wish to make a comment, please submit your comment via email at 
NEVADACITY.OLSON@GMAIL.COM. 
• Comments are encouraged to be submitted before 12pm the day of the meeting  
• PLEASE INCLUDE REFERENCE TO “7/24 PC Meeting” IN YOUR SUBJECT LINE.  
• Every effort will be made to read comments into the record as they come in   

3. In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, if you need special assistance 
to participate in this meeting, please contact the Deputy City Clerk at (530) 265-2496 x133.  
Notification at least 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make reasonable 
arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting.  [28 CFR 35.102.35.104 ADA Title II].  Language 
translation services are available for this meeting by calling (714) 754-5225 at least 48 hours in 
advance.    
The City of Nevada City thanks you in advance for taking all precautions to prevent spreading the 
COVID 19 virus.  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL Chair Stuart Lauters (absent), Vice-Chair Peter Can Zant Commissioners, Nikiya Schwarz, 
Laurie Oberholtzer, (one vacant position) 

HEARING FROM THE PUBLIC: Comments on items not on the agenda are welcome and are limited to 
three minutes.  However, action or discussion by the Commission may not occur at this time.  

ZONING CONSISTENY/SITE PLAN AMENDMENT  

1. 426 Broad Street – Zoning consistency determination, Site Plan amendment for fencing replacement for 
Kosmos Spa  

I. Motion by L. Oberholtzer that the Planning Commission finds that the proposed wellness spa use is 
consistent with the uses permitted in the General Business District at the specific location of 426 Broad Street 
and meets the criteria outlined in Section 17.040.020(F) of the City Municipal Code. City Municipal Code 
making to make the findings as follows: 

a. Nature of business depends upon walk-in traffic, and  
b. Nature of business provides sales tax revenue to the city of Nevada City, and  
c. Business provides products to a broad spectrum of the general public, and  
d. That the restaurant will be open to the public without spa appointments; and 
e. The proposal will not weaken the concentration and continuity of retail facilities at ground 

level, and will not break up an important shopping frontage, and  

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCXSQwrXtey12YIl3IbyGMYQ
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCXSQwrXtey12YIl3IbyGMYQ
http://nevco.granicus.com/player/camera/2?publish_id=7
mailto:NEVADACITY.OLSON@GMAIL.COM


July 24,  2020  PC 
Page 2 of 2 
 

 

f. If a manufacturing, assembly, fabricating or handcrafting process is involved, then the major 
retail outlet for such products will be on the premises where such processes are performed 

Seconded by P. Van Zant 
 

Vote: 3 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 recused (Lauters)/ 1 vacancy 
 
II. Motion by L. Oberholtzer  to approve the amended Site Plan feature (fence replacement), subject to the 

modified Conditions of Approval, pursuant to Section 17.88.010 of the City Municipal Code, finding 
that: 
a. That the overall site plan has been appropriately conditioned in a manner that complies with the 

requirements of the Zoning Code (Title 17 of the City Municipal Code) and the General Plan and 
will not substantially depreciate property values in the vicinity, or unreasonably interfere with the 
lawful use and enjoyment of other properties in the vicinity, or endanger the public health, safety, 
and welfare 
 

Seconded by P. Van Zant 
 
Vote: 3 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 recused (Lauters)/ 1 vacancy (Note: Commissioner Schwarz subsequently 
indicated that she had not intended to support the motion as stated) 

 
ADDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

o The picket fence shall not exceed 3.5-feet 
o The picket fence shall be stained or painted white 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS –Previously approved projects – informational only 

CORRESPONDENCE:   

ANNOUNCEMENTS:    

Next Regular Meeting – August 20, 2020 

ADJOURNMENT   

 

Motion by L. Oberholtzer to adjourn at 3:23 

Seconded by P. Van Zant 

Vote: 3 ayes/ 0 noes/ 1 recused (Lauters)/ 1 vacancy 

 



City of Nevada City 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TO:    Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING DATE:  August 20, 2020 

RE: Sign Application –110 York Street – Thalia Pharris & Sheerlie Ryngler, business owners 

ATTACHMENT: 1) Application for Historic District Sign
2) Signage exhibit

APPLICATION: Business owners, Thalia Pharris & Sheerlie Ryngler are  requesting approval of four signs 
for their business, “Liquid Gold Juicery” at 110 York Street. The two main signs would be attached to both 
sides of the outer support structure of the existing awning, similar to signage that was approved for the prior 
“Treats” business at this location.  The other two signs are proposed to be directional in nature, directing 
pedestrians along Broad Street and Commercial Street toward the business in the middle of York Street.    
Sign Details are as follows: 

Main signs (one each on either side of the awning): 
Sign Material: Hand-painted wood 
Color  Pallet: Background: Simply White (OC-117) or 

Monterey White (HC-27) 
Lettering and graphics: Gold Leaf  or 
Stuart Gold (HC-10) 

Sign graphics: Hand and jar 
Two-Sided: no 

Dimensions: 23 inch diameter 
Sign Area : 2.89 sq ft each or 5.77 sq ft total both 

signs 
Lettering Style: simple san serif 

Directional Signage (one each at Broad street and Commercial street intersections: 

Sign Material: Hand-painted wood 
Color  Pallet: Background: Audubon Russet (HC-51) 

Lettering black and gold 

Sign graphics: none 
Two-Sided: no 

Dimensions: 18-inch x 6 inch 
Sign Area : 0.75 sq ft each or 1.5 sq ft total both signs 

Lettering Style: simple san serif 



Liquid Gold Juicery 
8/20/20 PC 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

REGULATORY CONSIDERATION:  
17.68.080- Signs—Requirements and Restrictions (in the Historical District) 
No sign shall be placed, erected, altered or relocated on any property within the historical district unless 
such sign is, as to its exterior appearance, compatible with the Mother Lode type of architecture, and 
unless it complies with all of the following requirements: 
 
A. No sign shall be allowed except a sign which identifies or advertises the business conducted 
on the premises.  
B. Each sign shall be affixed to a building, except that where the building is set back from the 
street to such extent that a sign affixed to the building would not be within reasonable view from 
the street, then a sign need not be so affixed, but may be located in some other manner as the 
planning commission shall approve.  
C. No sign shall project more than six feet from the face or vertical surface of the building.  
D. No sign shall project above the eave or parapet line of the building.  
E. No single sign shall exceed twenty-four square feet in area.  
F. The aggregate area of all signs of any one business entity shall not exceed twenty-four square 
feet; provided, however, that a single business entity having public customer entrances on two or 
more sides of a building may treat each such side as a separate entity.  
G. The area of an irregular sign shall be the area of the smallest rectangle which can wholly 
contain the sign.  
H. No sign shall contain any flashing, blinking or moving letters, characters or other elements, 
and the sign itself shall not move.  
I. No sign shall contain any outline tubing.  
J. Sandwich board signs or A-board signs shall not be allowed.  
K. Neon signs or signs containing any outline tubing which are sought to be located inside a 
building and which are designed to be seen from the outside of the building are prohibited. Any 
sign in violation of this subsection shall be removed immediately.  
 
Design Guidelines: The City Council made a finding that the sign was inconsistent with the Sign Design 
Guidelines, which reads as follows:  
 

“The City Council, in 1987, clarified the zoning ordinance as to signage relative to 
building entrances and they unanimously voted “that each public entrance on each 
street may have 24 square feet of signage. Multiple businesses would share the 24 
square feet and the design must be located on the side of the business entrance."  

 
This notation in the Design Guidelines  may have implications on the two directional signs, which 
are located away from the business entrance. Note that the interpretation made by Council in 1987 
was placed only in the “Design Guidelines” and not actually adopted by an Ordinance. This leaves 
room for each subsequent Council and Planning Commission bodies to consider signage on a case-
by-case basis as the guidelines are “ advisory only.”  
 
FINDINGS: In order to approve this application, the following finding must be made: 
 

1. That the exterior appearance of the proposed signage is consistent with the Mother Lode type of 
architecture (17.68.080). 

 
 



Liquid Gold Juicery 
8/20/20 PC 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION: 
After discussion and hearing from the public, the Commission can make a motion to approve the sign 
application, with the following conditions as agreed to by the applicant: 
 

1. No neon is permitted. 
2. No banners are permitted. 
3. All signs shall be located at least 8 feet from the sidewalk to the bottom of the sign or as may . 

The main awning signs shall not hang below the existing support structure of the awning 
4. Installed signage must substantially comply with the exhibits presented and approved by the 

Planning Commission. 
5. The decision of the planning commission may be appealed to the city council not later than 

fifteen (15) days after this final action or decision. Any work during this period is at the 
applicant’s own risk. 



 
 
 

 CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
 317 Broad Street  Nevada City, California 95959  (530) 265-2496 

 
 

APPLICATION FOR HISTORICAL DISTRICT SIGN 
 
Applicant Check all that apply: 
   Erect a new sign 
________________________________________   Alter an existing sign 
Name   Relocate a sign 
________________________________________ Supporting data must be attached for new signs &  
Address alterations: 
________________________________________ •  Colored rendering of proposed sign 
City, State •  Color chips 
________________________________________ •  Material specs 
Phone 
  
Owner’s name if different from above  
 
Address of property where sign is proposed:   NAME OF BUSINESS 
____________________________________  _________________________________________________ 
       
 
SIZE:   DIMENSIONS OF SIGN: ____________________________________    Total Square Footage: _________________ 
Double Sided?   (Yes)   (No)     (Both sides are counted) 
If irregular in shape, providing sketch indicating the area of the smallest rectangle which can wholly contain the sign and provide 
dimensions.  See example provided on Sign Application Checklist.   
 
LOCATION  Please indicate proposed location on building:  (Also provide photograph indicating location) 
  
______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Materials of sign _______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Colors (list name and number if taken from Benjamin Moore Historical Palette) List colors for letters, background,  
graphics, accents, etc.) 
_______________________________ ___________________________________________________ 
_______________________________ ___________________________________________________ 
_______________________________  
 
Lettering Style, Name: ___________________________________________________________________________________ 
Provide description of chosen lettering style and how it complies with the Mother Lode Era style of architecture  ___________ 
______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 ______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
How many business entrances are there on the building? __________    How many businesses now occupy the building? ____ 
  
CODE COMPLIANCE: 
APPLICANT UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES TO THE FOLLOWING: (Please check the following boxes to indicate the 
applicant understands and acknowledges the Historical District Sign Standards)  By signing the following, the applicant agrees to 
adhere to these standards and any deviation will result in code enforcement procedures from the City, which could result in a fine 
and/or revocation of the sign approval.  
(  )  No sign shall contain any flashing, blinking or moving letters.  (Municipal Code Section 17.68.080H) 
(  ) Sandwich board signs or A-board signs shall not be allowed.  (Section 17.68.080J) 
(  ) Neon signs designed to be seen from the outside of the building are prohibited. (Section 17.68.080K) 
(  ) Signs shall be lighted only at such times as the premises are open for business, and after business hours, all illumination shall 

be indirect. (Section 17.80.190G) 
(  ) Banners and Flags are not permitted to hang from buildings (Municipal Code Section 8.04.020D) 
 
I am the owner or authorized agent for the subject property. 
              
Signature  Date 
 

OFFICE USE ONLY 

Filing Fees 

Chk               Cash 

Bus. Lic. 

x

x

8.02 sf
110 York St. Nevada City

see design plan

The front awning end brackets on both sides, also proposing the corners of Broad & Commercial for 
small directional street sign style sign- see attached design concepts for full details

High quality plywood + exterior primer and paint- built to last

24 k Gold Leaf
Stuart Gold HC-10
Metallic Gold

Simply White OC-117
Alternate: HC-27 Monterey White

Black HC-190
Logo is done is a simple san serif, with a block printing texture + other is  Museo Slab

Simple san serif lettering was common in the Mother Lode Era, as well as the block printing style. The 
additional signage is a simple slab serif consistent with print media from the era as well

1 2

Thalia Pharris & Sheerlie Ryngler

110 York St.

Nevada City, CA

(818)732-5213

Thalia Pharris & Sheerlie Ryngler
8.10/20

x
x
x
x

x



Sign Application Design Elements + Hardware
Liquid Gold Juicery

110 York Street

24”

Business Awning Facing 
Broad Street

Sign 1

It is of high priority to the business to have signs that are mounted perpendicular to the storefront so as to facilitate visibility from main adjacent streets Broad  St. & Commercial St. 
* As a side note this street has been closed due to construction intermittently, so this has become even more important to the business owners

Business Awning Facing 
Commercial Street

Sign 2

24
”

2 of 4 proposed signs

Signage will be mounted directly on the business 
awning brackets similar to how the old Treats Ice 

Cream Shop sign used to hang
See below:

The bracket for the awning, and to my best judg-
ment, this sign is below the minimum height above 
the sidewalk per the historic signage guidelines. We 

would appreciate guidance in how best to meet 
standards while providing a

 perpendicular sign for the business



Sign Application Design Elements + Hardware
Liquid Gold Juicery

110 York Street

16”

Sign 1 Sign 2 All Signs
Hardware Details Color Details

2 of 4 proposed signs
Hardware& Color Details

X

X

X X

2” Galvanized L bracket
X2

to attach at indicated marks

5/16 in.-18 x 3-1/2 in. 
Galvanized Carriage Bolt

Painted to match sign board
X2

to attach through awning 

5/16 in.-18 x 3-1/2 in. 
Galvanized Carriage Bolt

Painted to match sign board
X2

to attach through awning 

On one side 
the sidewalk 

is lower so the 
sign will be 

hung to 
ensure

 minimum 
height 

clearance is 
met 

Background Color: 
Simply White OC-117 Benjamin Moore

if the Planning Commision wishes for o� white then we 
would select:

HC-27 Monterey White

Lettering Colors for Approval:
Stuart Gold HC-10 Benjamin Moore

Metallic Gold 1Shot Enamel 
(as seen for Lulu’s Chocolate Shop Signs & Cosmic Roots 

Market)
Traditional 24k Gold Leaf

Color choice will depend on business budget constraints
if not Gold Leaf now, perhaps as an anniversary upgrade

When gold leaf is applied, the letter is painted in gold 
�rst, so this would just be an additional step

In our design alternate, because contrast is a concern
I have prepared a high contrast design plan with a

white background- OC-117 (or HC-27_
& Black Writing (HC- 190) 

*All substrates will be primed and sealed for durability
Colors will be purchased in  high quality exterior paint



23”

Business Awning Facing 
Broad Street

Sign 1

Substrate: High quality 1/2” plywood
cut to 23” diameter circle

one side cut o� (making the width 
roughly 21.5”) to allow it to be

 mounted to the �at perpendicular wall

23”
Business Awning Facing 

Commercial Street
Sign 1

Substrate: High quality 1/2” plywood
cut to 23” diameter circle

Sign Application Design Elements + Hardware
Liquid Gold Juicery

110 York Street

2 of 4 proposed signs
Design Details



23”

Business Awning Facing 
Broad Street

Sign 1

Substrate: High quality 1/2” plywood
cut to 23” diameter circle

one side cut o� (making the width 
roughly 21.5”) to allow it to be

 mounted to the �at perpendicular wall

23”
Business Awning Facing 

Commercal Street
Sign 1

Substrate: High quality 1/2” plywood
cut to 23” diameter circle

Sign Application Design Elements + Hardware
Liquid Gold Juicery

110 York Street

2 of 4 proposed signs
Design Details Alternate



1” Galvanized L bracket
X2

to attach at indicated marks

Sign Application Design Elements + Hardware
Liquid Gold Juicery

110 York Street

2 of 4 proposed signs
Small Directional Signs
Placement + Hardware Detials

Corner of Broad Street & York Street
(hanging perpendicular to Broad St)

Spirit House
Sign 3

2’X8”

x

x

1” Galvanized L 
bracket

X2
to attach at

 indicated marks

Wood Screw, Flat, 
#5, 3/4in

X2
to attach L bracket 

to wood sign

5/16 in. x 1-1/2 in. Zinc-Plated Steel 
Hex Head Sleeve Anchor
Designed for use on Brick

X2

Corner of Commercial Street & York Street

(hanging perpendicular to Commercial St)
(old Reiki Kitchen)

Sign 4

2’X8”
x

x

Wood Screw, Flat, #5, 3/4in
X2

to attach L bracket to 
wood sign & to wood post



* Again as a side note this street has been closed due to construction intermittently, so visibility is a high priority

18”

Perpendicular to  
Broad Street

Sign 3

Substrate: High quality 1/2” plywood
cut 18”X6”

Painted with exterior grade paint

Sign Application Design Elements + Hardware
Liquid Gold Juicery

110 York Street

2 of 4 proposed signs
Design Details

18”
 Perpendicular to

Commercial Street
Sign 4

Substrate: High quality 1/2” plywood
cut 18”X6”

Painted with exterior grade paint



          City of Nevada City 

TO:    Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING  DATE:  August 20, 2020 

RE: UPDATED:Tree Removal Application (three properties) – 263 trees along West 
Broad Street and Orchard Street 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Tree Removal Application
2. Tree location map
3. PG&E Wildfire Project Safety Explanation (staff modified version)
4. Arborist Letter
5. Photos of trees to be removed

APPLICATION: PG&E is proposing to remove a total of 263 trees within Nevada City around 
and beneath a power line system along West Broad Street and Orchard Street, including 103 on 
City property within the right-of-way or within Pioneer Cemetery and 160 trees on private 
properties. The tree removal is proposed as part of PG&E’s Wildfire Safety Plan and to improve 
chances of keeping the line energized during high-winds triggering Public Safety Power Shut off 
(PSPS) events. The goal of the project is to create a safe environment for PG&E to keep our 
General Business district energized during PSPS events.  

The proposal includes several species of trees at a wide range of sizes. These are documented in 
an excel spreadsheet attached. Staff has modified the spreadsheet to include only the information 
pertinent to the City in an attempt to make navigating the spreadsheet easier. One tree, noted on 
line 190 of the spreadsheet is identified as an “Atlas Cedar,” and is believed to be a Felix Gillet 
tree. All trees to be removed are painted with a yellow “X” along with the tree diameter.  

Downed vegetation treatment is proposed to be handled differently for each tree, with most being 
removed from the site completely and others cut into firewood rounds and left at the site (as 
indicated on the explanation spreadsheet). PG&E representative Joanne Drummond has indicated 
the agency’s willingness to participate in the City mitigation and replanting program by way of 
contributing to a Tree Preservation fund. Therefore, once mitigation has been prescribed by the 
planning commission, it need to be evaluated by a Landscape Architect or Arborist to determine 
an appropriate mitigation fee.  

MITGATION CONSIDERATION: Pursuant to Section 18.01.070 of the City Municipal Code, 
the Planning Commission may impose mitigation on the loss of any protected tree(s). The total 
replacement requirement shall be based on the number of tree(s) removed. Mitigation replanting 
or seedling protection shall be provided with the intent to reflect the character of the site prior to 
tree removal. Due to the number of trees and the wide area being covered, staff suggests that 
mitigation be prescribed by category of area, though the Felix Gillet Atlas Maple may warrant a 
specific mitigation focus. PG&E has indicated a preference for trees that are relatively small to 
prevent future vegetation management actions and the City’s Public Works Department has 



PG&E Tree Removal 
Tree Removal Staff Report 
Page 2 of 2 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

expressed a preference for low maintenance and low water-usage species planted in locations 
that will not interfere with sewer lines. Mitigation outlined in the Ordinance specific to the Tree 
Preservation Fund is as follows: 
 

Tree Preservation Fund. A tree preservation fund is established for the city. The 
moneys received in lieu of replacement of illegally removed trees or trees removed 
through the permit process approved for in lieu mitigation shall be forwarded to the 
city clerk for deposit in the tree preservation fund. Under no circumstances shall the 
funds collected by the city clerk for the tree preservation fund be directed to any other 
fund to be used for any other purposes other than that described in Section 18.01.020 
"tree preservation fund." Upon approval of the city council, funds may be expended for 
the inspection and assistance in preservation of additionally protected trees on public 
or private properties.  

 
ENVIRONMENTAL: To be updated by the date of the meeting. Work is assumed to be under a  
Programmatic EIR.  
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: Because of the extensive amount of tree work being proposed 
within City right-of-way, the planning commission is being asked to make a recommendation to 
the City Council for final on the tree removal proposal.  
 

1. In approving/denying the PG&E Tree Removal application, as conditioned, located near 
or under the power lines running along Broad Street, West Broad Street and Orchard 
Street, the planning commission finds: 
 

a. That utility companies are required by law to keep the lines clear of vegetation.  
 

b. That the removal of trees identified in the exhibits provided by the applicant 
are/are not necessary for reasonable prevention of power line damage during high 
wind events which have the potential to trigger PSPS events. 

 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

1. The approval for the tree removal shall expire 180-days from the issuance of the permit.   
 

2. Any firm or person removing the trees shall obtain a business license from City Hall 
 

3. Applicant is responsible for compliance with the Migratory Bird Treaty Act, handout 
attached.  
 

4. PG&E shall be responsible for obtaining permission from the property owner for tree 
removal on  any private property.  
 

5. Once mitigation has been prescribed by the planning commission, it will need to be 
evaluated by a Landscape Architect or Arborist to determine an appropriate mitigation 
fee. 
 

https://library.municode.com/ca/nevada_city/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT18EN_CH18.01TRPR_18.01.020DE


I/Forms/Planning/Tree Removal Application -  Revised 7/20/07  

 
 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
317 Broad Street  • Nevada City, California 95959 • (530) 265-2496 

 
 

CHECKLIST FOR TREE REMOVAL APPLICATION 
 
 

This packet contains filing forms and instructions for completing a tree removal application. Some  tree 
removals can be obtained from staff, such as immediate approval of any dead or diseased tree. Other tree 
removal may be forwarded to the Planning Commission for approval, such as where multiple tree removal of 
healthy trees is requested. In such cases, an arborist report would be required with application submittal. The 
following ordinance should be reviewed for standards associated with tree removal: 

 
1.   Ordinance 2004-09 -  Tree Preservation 

 
 

PROCESS: Once a complete tree application has been submitted, it will be reviewed by the City Planner and either the 
City Engineer or the Director of Public Works. Any staff approval requires two staff signatures. This review can take 
approximately 7 to 10 days but we strive to process all applications as quickly as possible. 

 
If it is agreed by staff that the Planning Commission should review the request, then the matter will be placed on the next 
available meeting. The Planning Commission meets on the 3rd Thursday of each month at 6:30 p.m. at City Hall. The 
applicant or their representative MUST be present to discuss the application at this meeting. Once approval has been 
obtained, the tree removal can occur. Any tree company removing the trees will be required to have a current Business 
License on file with Nevada City. Staff can provide the Business License form and can assist in determining if the  
company has a current license. 

 
Any decision has a 15-day appeal period from the date of approval. Unless immediate approval has been given by staff, 
then any tree removal should be scheduled after this appeal period. 

 
Mitigation measures may be applied to offset any tree removal. Examples of mitigation measures could be replacement of 
trees, or payment of an "in-lieu" fee to the established City's "Tree Preservation Fund."  This is a restricted  fund that is to  
be used for tree-related activities such as the purchase of trees, planting activities, preservation and care of trees, and 
education about trees in the City. 

 
Checklist for application submittal:  Please include the following items as applicable: 

 
( ) 1.  Tree  removal  application,  signed by owner. If  signed  by  a  representative,  include  a letter of 

authorization from the property owner(s). 
(      )      2. Filing fee of $100 
( ) 3. Photograph(s)  of trees to be removed.  (Using a digital  camera and printing  pictures  on    8-1/2" x 

I I"paper is acceptable.) 
(      )      4.  Site plan indicating location of tree(s) on property, and location of structures, driveway and road. 



J/Forms/Planning/Tree  Removal  Application-Revised 7/20/07 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
317 Broad Street • Nevada City, California 95959 • (530) 265-2496 

TREE  REMOVAL APPLICATION 

A City permit is required for removal of any tree with a cumulative diameter at breast height (cbdh) of 4" or greater 
(Mandrone, Manzanita, Oak); or 6" or greater (all other trees). An arborist's report may also be required. See Ordinance 
2004-09 (City Code, Ch 18) for criteria. 

NOTE: A $100 administrative fee must be paid when the application is submitted. All applications must include 
photographs of the tree(s) to be removed and a site plan showing the location of all trees to be removed and 
approximate locations of any roads and structures. 

Street Address/Location  APN #: 

Owner/Representative:  Phone #: 

Mailing Address:   

Email Address: 

Identify and describe tree(s) to be removed and state reason(s). Use additional pages if necessary. 

Number Diameter Species Reason  for removal (See§ 18.01.035) 

Property Owner's Signature:______________________________________________ Date: _______________ 

****************************************** Office Use Only*********************************************

Permit Date:__________________________________ Expiration  Date: _________________________________ Remarks 

(Mitigation/Protection Measures): __________________________________________________   

Approved by: 

Filing Fees 

Chk Cash 

Bus. Li e. 

__________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________

____________________________ ___________
Name/Title Date

____________________________ ___________
Name/Title Date

Office Use Only

Company performing tree work_______________________________________________________________________

Various-See attached data Various-See attached data

PG&E-Joanne Drummond, VPM 530-510-1064

788 Taylorville Rd Grass Valley, CA 95945

Joanne.Drummond@pge.com

Mountain F. Enterprises

Various-See attached data

Joanne Drummond
PG&E
Vegetation Program Manager

8-7-2020



#

#

##

#*

#

#

##

#

#

#

%2%2

#
#

%2%2%2
%2%2%2%2
%2%2
%2

%2%2

#%2%2

##

%2%2

%2%2

%2
%2
%2
%2%2

%2

%2
#

#

%2
%2

#

%2%2

#
#

#

#
#

##

#
#

#
#

#

#
#

#

#

##

#

####
#

#

#
#

#

##

#

%2
%2%2

%2 %2
%2 %2

#

#
#
#

#

%2%2
%2

#
%2
%2%2%2%2#

#

#

#

%2
%2%2%2%2%2%2

#

%2
%2%2%2%2%2%2%2

%2

#

#

%2

#
##

# #

%2

%2

%2
%2

##

%2
%2

%2

%2
%2 %2

%2

%2

%2

#

#

####
%2

##
#

#

#
%2

%2

%2

%2

#

#

#

#

#
#

#

%2

#
##

#

%2

#
#

#

#

#
#

#

%2%2
%2
%2

%2

%2

#

##

#

%2

# #

#

#

#

#
##

#

%2

#

%2%2

#

%2

#

%2

#

#
#

#

#

##

#
#

# #

%2

#
#

#

#

#
#

##

#

#

#

#

#
#

#

###

#

#

##

#

#

#
##

#

#
#

#
# #

#

%2

%2
%2

%2

%2
%2%2#

#

##
####

#

Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), (c) OpenStreetMap contributors, and the
GIS User Community

Nevada City
PSPS Tree Work

I
0 200 400100

Feet

Date: 8/5/2020

Tree Work
#* Hold                                          1
# Refusal                                     9
# Work Identified                      160
%2 Work Identified  City Tree      103

PGE Primary Conductor



1 VEG_POINT_ SPECIES DEAD_DIAMET TAT_RESULT PRESCRIP WOOD_MAN PI_COMMENT WM_COMMENT SITE_ADDRE

2 Work Identified Cedar No 24 Do Not ABATE F3A_FP-Rmv3 A Haul offsite
0.4 span from 198 to 226. 6 ft Northeast of line. Overhanging with lean towards line. Trim would remove 
>1/3 of canopy and would kill. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash on front ΓÇ£lawnΓÇ¥ 116 ORCHARD ST

3 Work Identified Hawthorn No 16 ABATE F2D_FS-R2B+Trt Haul offsite
Tree 25ft north of endpole. Tree overhangs guy wire and leans towards pole. Trim to scope would remove 
more than 1/3 canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 126 ORCHARD ST

4 Work Identified Cedar No 8 Not a Strike Tree R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite
36 ft Northeast of pole 198. Under line, previously topped, would require continuous topping. Owner 
requests removal. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash on front ΓÇ£lawnΓÇ¥ 116 ORCHARD ST

5 Work Identified Cedar No 7 Not a Strike Tree R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite
35 ft Northeast of pole 198. Under line, previously topped, would require continuous topping. Owner 
requests removal. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash on front ΓÇ£lawnΓÇ¥ 116 ORCHARD ST

6 Hold Cedar No 27 Do Not ABATE OV_Overhang Not Needed 0.3 span from 198 to 226. 7 ft Northeast of line. One branch overhanging line. Owner requests additional ass              Chip and pile slash on front ΓÇ£lawnΓ    116 ORCHARD ST

7 Work Identified Cedar No 23 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Not Needed
0.3 span from 198 to 226. 10 ft Northeast of line. Trim back for 4 ft to sky clearance. Trim would kill tree. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Chip and pile slash on front 
ΓÇ£lawnΓÇ¥ per unit pricing 116 ORCHARD ST

8 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BCS_Br Rmv+Trt Not Needed Brush unit within 10ft of endpole. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all slash per unit pricing 126 ORCHARD ST

9 Refusal Ponderosa Pine No 38 Do Not ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Not Needed 0.4 span from 198 to 226. 20 ft Northeast of line. Small cedar on backside. Overhanging line, mediocre canop          TBD pending refusal 116 ORCHARD ST

10 Refusal Cedar No 18 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Not Needed 0.4 span from 198 to 226. 25 ft Northeast of line. Behind large pine TBD 116 ORCHARD ST

11 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BCS_Br Rmv+Trt Not Needed Brush unit within 10ft of endpole. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all slash per unit pricing 126 ORCHARD ST

12 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 43 ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Haul offsite

Tree .6 of span from pole 198 to endpole, 12ft west of lines. Tree overhangs lines and leans heavily towards 
lines, almost parallel. Trim to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 
12836A Remove all wood and slash 126 ORCHARD ST

13 Work Identified Locust, Black No 19 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
Tree .5 of span from pole 198 to endpole, 8ft west of lines. Tree has lean to lines but weighted away. Large 
wound on riparian side. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD 116 ORCHARD ST

14 Work Identified  CITY TREE Maple No 9 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from pole 228 to 9357. 5 feet northeast of lines. Overhanging lines, trim would take more than 
1/3 of canopy. Poor taper. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip chips. 128 ORCHARD ST

15 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 17 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from pole 226 to 9357. Directly northeast of lines. Previously topped. Codominant. Can strike 
pole 9357. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush. 128 ORCHARD ST

16 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 25 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
0.1 of span from pole 9357 to end pole. 15 feet north east of line. Severe lean towards lines, overhanging 
lines, declining canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and chip chips 128 ORCHARD ST

17 Work Identified Black Oak No 18 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from pole 226 to 9357. 30 feet northeast of lines. Uphill and leaning toward wards lines. 
Overhanging as well. 2 stems at DBH. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and chip chips 128 ORCHARD ST

18 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 7 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
5 feet north of pole 670. 2 stems at DBH. Previously topped tree, co-dominant base, declining canopy. Can 
strike pole 670. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

19 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 6 ABATE R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite
4 feet north of pole 670. Previously topped. Under the lines. Declining canopy, slight lean towards pole. 
Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

20 Work Identified  CITY TREE Brush (misc) No 3 ABATE BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Brush unit within 10ft of pole 670 and within 4ft ground to sky of west guy wire. Arborist ISA # 12836A
Chip and pile slash in designated 
location. 656W BROAD ST

21 Work Identified  CITY TREE Black Oak No 6 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree 14ft west of pole 670. Tree leans towards facilities and overhangs guy wire. Trim to scope would 
remove more more than 1/3 canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

22 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 8 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree 14ft west of pole 670. Dying tree connected to black oak at base. Within 4ft to sky of guy, trim would 
kill. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

23 Work Identified  CITY TREE Brush (misc) No 3 ABATE BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Brush unit within 10ft of pole 670 and within 4ft ground to sky of north guy wire. Arborist ISA # 12836A
Chip and pile slash in designated 
location. 656W BROAD ST

24 Work Identified  CITY TREE Brush (misc) No 3 ABATE BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Brush unit within 10ft of pole 670 and within 4ft ground to sky of north guy wire. Arborist ISA # 12836A
Chip and pile slash in designated 
location. 656W BROAD ST

25 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 5 ABATE R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite
0.9 of span from pole to pole 670. Directly west of lines. Leaning slightly towards lines, previously topped, 
small canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

26 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 15 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.9 of span from pole to 670. 6 feet west of lines near roadway. Previously topped tree, declining canopy. 
Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

27 Work Identified  CITY TREE Brush (misc) No 3 ABATE BC_Br Rmv Not Needed 0.9 of span from pole to 670. Directly under lines. Growing around guy wire and pole. Arborist ISA # 12836A Included in unit pricing. 656W BROAD ST

28 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 3 Do Not ABATE BC_Br Rmv Haul offsite
Tree 19ft north of pole 670. Tree is strike height for for guy and future strike for pole. Suppressed tree 
would be left in elements alone. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

29 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 8 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
Tree 21ft north of pole 670. Tree is strike height for for guy and future pole. Wound on base, overhangs 
guy.  Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

30 Work Identified Cedar Yes 34 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite 35 feet East of pole 670. Dead top, insects, sparse canopy. Behind fence. Arborist ISA # 12836A
Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

31 Work Identified  CITY TREE Black Oak No 9 ABATE R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite Tree 48ft west of pole 670. Strike for guy only. Heavy lean to guy wire. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST



32 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 10 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite Tree 48ft west of pole 670. Strike for guy only. Arborist ISA # 12836A
Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

33 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 11 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
Tree 56ft west of pole 670. Suppressed canopy with rust at top. with old sign of beetle. Arborist ISA # 
12836A  Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

34 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 9 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite Tree 56ft west of pole 670. Suppressed canopy, poor taper tree with parallel lean. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

35 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 13 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Cut and Leave
0.6 of span from pole to pole 670. 30 feet west of lines. Poor taper, exposed roots, lean to facilities, county 
tree. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut into 16 inches and chip and pile 
brush 641W BROAD ST

36 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 12 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Cut and Leave
County Tree .6 of span from poles 645 to pole 670, 35ft south of lines. Tree leans and weighted to lines. 
Tree has rubbing wounds where canopies touch. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut wood into 16 inches and chip 
and pile brush 641W BROAD ST

37 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 6 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from pole to pole 670. Directly west of lines. Growing within 4 feet of lines, will need to be 
topped. Can strike guy wire. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 656W BROAD ST

38 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 4 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from pole 645 to pole 670. Directly west of lines. Poor taper, can strike guy wires, sparse 
canopy, topping not recommended. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 656W BROAD ST

39 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 7 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
0.5 of span from pole 645 to 670. Directly East of lines. Poor taper, will need to be topped, continuous 
topping likely to weaken and kill tree. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 656W BROAD ST

40 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 39 ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Haul offsite
0.5 of span from pole 645 to 670. 8 feet East of lines. Overhanging limbs, trim would remove 1/3 of canopy. 
Declining canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 656W BROAD ST

41 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 4 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
0.5 of span from pole 645 to 670. Directly East of lines. Poor taper, will need to be topped. Continuous 
topping likely to weaken and kill tree.  Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 656W BROAD ST

42 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 4 ABATE R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite
0.4 of span from pole 645 to 670. 3 feet East of lines. Will need to be topped. Poor taper, weak canopy. 
Topping of tree is likely to weaken or kill tree. Arborist ISA # 12836A. Remove all wood 656W BROAD ST

43 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 9 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
0.4 of span from pole 645 to 670. 5 feet East of lines. Trim would remove more than 1/3 of canopy. Forked 
top. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 656W BROAD ST

44 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 6 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite 0.3 of span from pole 645 to 670. 16 feet East of lines. Poor taper, sparse canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 656W BROAD ST

45 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 40 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
0.3 of span from pole 645 to 670. 36 feet East of lines. On far side of driveway. Declining canopy, leaning 
parallel to lines. Dead top.

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brish 656W BROAD ST

46 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 21 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.3 of span from pole 645 to 670. 75 feet East of lines. Old X shaped wound near bottom, beetle sign 
present, defects near top

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

47 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 34 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
Tree 121ft south of pole 670. Tree has gall rust and needle blight throughout, and a wound at the base. 
Slight weight towards facilities. Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD 200 REDBUD WAY

48 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 29 ABATE R3B_Rmv 3-B Cut and Leave

Tree .3 of span from poles 645 to 670, 23ft south of lines. Tree likely to break 4ft conductor to sky zone 
within 18months. Trim to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy. Tree has 2 large wounds from x stem 
removals on main stem. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut into 16 inches, chip and pile 
brush near driveway under madrone 641W BROAD ST

49 Work Identified  CITY TREE Locust, Black No 9 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
City Tree .1 of span from poles 645 to 670, under lines. Strike for pole only. 3x stem. Fuel reduction under 
lines. Continuous topping would be needed, but is likely to weaken and kill tree Remove all wood and slash 641W BROAD ST

50 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 19 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
Tree 16ft south of pole 645. Tree overhangs guy and likely to break 4ft compliance zone within 18months. 
Trim to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD 641W BROAD ST

52 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 43 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Not Needed
50 ft North of guyline for End Pole. Woodpecker sign, heavily weighted towards facility, dieback on back 
side. Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD pending NO ADDRESS LISTED

52 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 14 ABATE F2A_FP-Rmv2 A Haul offsite 61 ft North of End Pole. Considerable dieback, slight lean to line. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

53 Work Identified Madrone Yes 8 ABATE F1A_FP-Rmv1 A Not Needed 9 ft Northeast of End Pole. Exposed roots and declining health. Had solar light on it. Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD pending 144 ORCHARD ST

54 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 29 ABATE F3A_FP-Rmv3 A Not Needed
37 ft Northeast of End Pole. Broken top, slight lean and weight towards facility. Declining canopy. Solar light 
on it. Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD pending 144 ORCHARD ST

55 Refusal Ponderosa Pine No 51 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Not Needed 30 feet northeast of pole. Codominant stems, one stem has a broken top. TBD 550W BROAD ST

56 Work Identified Redwood, Coast No 13 Do Not ABATE SD_Side Haul offsite
10 feet west of lines near pole 12. Tree is within 4 feet of overhanging both lines. Trim top of tree to obtain 
4 feet. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove chips 633W BROAD ST

57 Work Identified Locust, Black No 7 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite

0.4 of span from pole 12 to unmarked pole. Directly under lines. Can strike both pole guy wires, previously 
trimmed, declining canopy, roots undercut by road. Continuous topping will likely weaken  or kill tree. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 633W BROAD ST

58 Work Identified Cottonwood, FremonYes 17 ABATE R2D_Rmv2-B+Trt Haul offsite 75 ft southwest of End Pole. Dead. Shoots are only foliage. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush 129 ORCHARD ST

59 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 23 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite 96 ft southwest of End Pole. Multiple defects in trunk. Signs of regressing health.  Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush 129 ORCHARD ST
60 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 13 ABATE F2A_FP-Rmv2 A Not Needed 78 ft East of pole 9357. Slightly weighted towards facility. Weak canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD pending 144 ORCHARD ST
61 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 10 ABATE F1A_FP-Rmv1 A Not Needed 55 ft Southeast of End Pole. Beetle sign present, declining canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD pending 144 ORCHARD ST

62 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 31 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Not Needed

0.4 span from 9357 to End Pole. 107 ft East of line. Covered in ivy. Uphill, leaning parallel with lines. Old 
wound with evidence of rot at base on South side, with sloughing bark and ant infestation on West side. 
Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD pending 144 ORCHARD ST



63 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 29 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Not Needed
0.4 span from 9357 to End Pole. 140 ft East of line. Covered in ivy. Uphill, old broken off codominant top 
with evidence of rot beginning.  Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD pending 144 ORCHARD ST

64 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Brush unit at pole 12 and guy wire. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all slash 633W BROAD ST

65 Work Identified Cedar No 12 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.1 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. Directly under lines. Has been topped many times. Declining 
canopy. Owner does not want to have to keep trimming tree. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush near flat area near driveway 
and lawn 631 SPRING ST

66 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Brush unit at unmarked pole and guy wire. Blackberry climbing guy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all slash 633W BROAD ST

67 Work Identified Cedar No 15 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
0.7 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. 30 feet west of lines. Declining canopy small wound on trunk. 
Overall poor health and uphill from facilities. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 631 SPRING ST

68 Work Identified Cottonwood, FremonNo 10 ABATE R1D_Rmv1-B+Trt Haul offsite
0.5 span from Pole 9357 to End Pole. 36 ft southwest of line. 2x stem. Basal rot from possible pruning. Poor 
taper in stems. Large scar on tall stem. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush 129 ORCHARD ST

69 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 17 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.1 span from Pole 9357 to End Pole. 78 ft southwest of line. On slope to facilities. Unstable soil. Thin 
crown. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush 129 ORCHARD ST

70 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 18 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.1 span from Pole 9357 to End Pole. 78 ft southwest of line. On slope to facilities. Unstable soil. Codom 
top. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush 129 ORCHARD ST

71 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 15 ABATE F2A_FP-Rmv2 A Not Needed 85 ft East of End Pole. Leaning towards line, weak canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD pending 144 ORCHARD ST

72 Work Identified Ailanthus No 6 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from pole unmarked pole to end pole. Poor taper, completely dead. Root structure formed on 
and around rock slabs. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 631 SPRING ST

73 Work Identified Ailanthus No 4 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. Poor taper. Root structure formed on and around rock slabs. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 631 SPRING ST

74 Work Identified Ailanthus No 6 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. 15 feet west of lines. Poor taper, lean towards facilities. Root 
structure formed on and around rock slabs. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 631 SPRING ST

75 Work Identified Ailanthus No 7 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. 20 feet west of lines. 2 stems. Leaning parallel to lines, poor 
taper, on edge of rock formation, Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 631 SPRING ST

76 Work Identified Ailanthus No 2 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
0.7 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. Directly west of lines. Trees will need to be topped in the 
future. Many have already been topped. Best to remove now. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Included in unit pricing 631 SPRING ST

77 Work Identified Ailanthus No 2 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
0.8 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. Directly west of lines. Trees will need to be topped, best to 
remove now. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Included in unit pricing 631 SPRING ST

78 Work Identified Cedar No 17 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
14 feet south of end pole. Behind large rocks. 2 stems. Overhanging guy wires. Trim would take more than 
1/3 of canopy. County tree Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 629 SPRING ST

79 Work Identified Ailanthus No 8 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
County tree. Tree 18ft west of pole 203. Tree grows into 4ft compliance zone of lines. Trim would remove 
more than 1/3 canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 629 SPRING ST

80 Work Identified Cedar No 7 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
15 feet south of end pole. Overhanging guy wire. Trim would remove more than 1/3 of canopy. County tree. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood 629 SPRING ST

81 Work Identified Ailanthus No 5 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree 15ft west of pole 203. Tree grows into 4ft compliance zone of lines. Trim would remove more than 1/3 
canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 629 SPRING ST

82 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 ABATE BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
County unit. Brush 12ft west of pole 203. Leans towards pole and guy wire with poor anchoring in boulders. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all slash 629 SPRING ST

83 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 43 ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Haul offsite
143 ft southwest of End Pole. Next to deck. On slope to facilities. Buttrot. Possible pitch tubes. Western gall 
rust. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush 129 ORCHARD ST

84 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 44 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
Tree .4 of span from unmarked pole to 198, 30ft east of lines. Tree has poor canopy with blight and rust. 
Appears to be in decline. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD NO ADDRESS LISTED

85 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 0 F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
Tree .5 of span from unmarked pole to 198, 67ft east of lines. Tree has poor canopy with blight and rust. 
Appears to be in decline. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD NO ADDRESS LISTED

86 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 42 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
Tree .5 of span from poles to , 67ft east of lines. Poor canopy health with rust and needle blight. Tree 
appears to be in decline. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD NO ADDRESS LISTED

87 Work Identified  CITY TREE Brush (misc) No 2 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Pole clearance for pole 198. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and debris NO ADDRESS LISTED

88 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 47 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
13 feet East of pole 198. Overhanging lines. Outside of cemetery fence. Trim would take more than 1/3 of 
canopy, overmature tree, on slope leaning towards lines. County tree Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and debris NO ADDRESS LISTED

89 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 38 ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Not Needed
15 feet East of pole 198. Previously trimmed, poor needle retention, overmature, leaning slightly away. 
Trim would kill tree. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all NO ADDRESS LISTED

90 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 39 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
70 feet East of pole 198. Slight lean towards line, sparse canopy, overmature, gall rust, possible beetle. 
County tree. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush NO ADDRESS LISTED

91 Work Identified Birch No 36 Do Not ABATE Trim Haul offsite

0.1 of span from pole 627 to pole 12. Directly under lines and in front of house. It has been trimmed 
multiple times, 3 stems, leaning away. Trim so that it is not within 4 feet of lines and trim around guy wire. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and debris 627W BROAD ST

92 Work Identified Locust, Black No 3 ABATE BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
20 feet East of end pole. Leaning towards lines and within 1 foot of touching lines. Poor taper. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Included in unit pricing 627W BROAD ST



93 Work Identified Locust, Black No 3 ABATE BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
0.9 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. 15 feet East of lines. Remove painted stems that have poor 
taper and are susceptible to wind sway. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Included in unit pricing 627W BROAD ST

94 Work Identified Locust, Black No 4 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
24 feet East of end pole. Trees base is hanging out the edge of hill side. Poor taper, weak canopy. Reviewed 
by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 627W BROAD ST

95 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 20 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Cut and Leave
0.8 of span from pole to pole 645. 26 feet south of lines. declining canopy with needle blight and gall rust 
present. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut into 16 inch rounds. Chip and 
pile brush near driveway under 
madrone 641W BROAD ST

96 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 11 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Cut and Leave
Tree .9 of span from poles 33167 to 645, directly under lines. Tree previously topped and would need 
continuous topping in the future. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut wood to 16in rounds, chip and 
pile slash in designated location 641W BROAD ST

97 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 12 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Cut and Leave
Tree .9 of span from poles 33167 to 645, directly under lines. Tree previously topped and would need 
continuous topping in the future. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut wood to 16in rounds, chip and 
pile slash in designated location 641W BROAD ST

98 Work Identified  CITY TREE Manzanita No 2 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Cut and Leave Brush clearance around pole 645 guy wire. Manazanita growing around it. Arborist ISA # 12836A Chip and pile 641W BROAD ST

99 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 15 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.7 of span from pole to 645. 15 feet south of lines. Tree is within 4 feet of overhanging lines. It will remove 
more than 1/3 of canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 639W BROAD ST

100 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 11 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
0.6 of span from pole to 645. Directly under lines. Previously topped, hardly any canopy, dying tree, fuel 
under lines. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 639W BROAD ST

101 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 11 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.6 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 10 feet south of lines. Tree is overhanging, trim would take more 
than 1/3 of canopy. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 639W BROAD ST

102 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 4 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
0.6 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 10 feet south of lines, poor taper, wind sway, sparse canopy. 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 639W BROAD ST

103 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 7 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
0.5 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 8 feet south of lines. Poor taper, sparse canopy, wind sway. 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 639W BROAD ST

104 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 17 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.5 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 8 feet south of lines. Tree is within 4 feet of overhanging lines. 
Trim would take half of canopy leaving it weak and vulnerable to disease. Reviewd by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 639W BROAD ST

105 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 17 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
0.7 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 40 feet south of lines. Wound near base of tree. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A. Remove all wood and brush 639W BROAD ST

106 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 34 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
0.3 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 105 feet south of lines. Weighted away, dog leg about 20 feet up 
trunk. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and debris 639W BROAD ST

107 Work Identified Cedar No 30 Do Not ABATE Trim Cut and Leave
Tree .8 of span from poles 120751472 to 120773746, 20ft west of lines. Tree touches guy pole. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A

Trim branches off of guy pole. Chip 
and pile on spring street hill. 603W BROAD ST

108 Work Identified Juniper Yes 24 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Cut and Leave Tree 37ft west of pole 120773746. Tree is dying. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut wood to 8 foot logs. Owner 
would like log  placed on hill off of 
spring street so logs can be place in 
a pick-up truck 603W BROAD ST

109 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 21 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
County tree. Tree .6 of span from poles to , 36ft north of lines. Tree has wound in upper half of tree and sign 
of beetle. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

110 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 9 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .5 of span from poles 627 to 12, 36ft north of lines. Tree has wound at base and weighted and sloped 
towards lines. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

111 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 7 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .5 of span from poles 627 to 12, 37ft north of lines. Suppressed poor taper tree sloped towards lines. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

112 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 5 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .4 of span from poles 627 to 12, 38ft north of lines. Suppressed, poor taper tree sloped towards lines. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

113 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 10 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .4 of span from poles 627 to 12, 36ft north of lines. Tree sloped and weighted towards lines with 
exposed roots and sign of bark beetles present. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

114 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 9 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .3 of span from poles 627 to 12, 37ft north of lines. Poor taper tree, sloped and weighted towards lines 
with exposed roots. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

115 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 10 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .2 of span from poles 627 to 12, 38ft north of lines. Poor taper tree, sloped and weighted towards lines 
with exposed roots. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

116 Refusal Cedar No 26 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite 80 ft Northeast of pole 198. Next to house.  Codominant cedar in decline, could strike primaries in either dire                     Remove all wood. Chip and pile slash   116 ORCHARD ST

117 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 5 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .2 of span from poles 627 to 12, 39ft north of lines. Non-striking, suppressed, poor taper tree. Removal 
of trees around it likely to cause failure. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

118 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 7 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .1 of span from poles 627 to 12, 37ft north of lines. Poor taper tree, sloped and weighted towards lines 
with exposed roots. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

119 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 7 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Not Needed
Tree .1 of span from poles 627 to 12, 38ft north of lines. Poor taper tree, sloped and weighted towards lines 
with exposed roots. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

120 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 8 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .1 of span from poles 627 to 12, 37ft north of lines. Poor taper tree, sloped and weighted towards lines 
with exposed roots. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED



121 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 8 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree 41ft north of pole 627. Poor taper tree, sloped and weighted towards lines with exposed roots. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

122 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 10 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree 41ft north of pole 627. Poor taper tree, sloped and weighted towards lines with exposed roots. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

123 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 6 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .9 of span from poles 611 to 627, 37ft north of lines. Suppressed, poor taper tree with exposed roots, 
likely fail after removal of trees around it. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

124 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 8 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .9 of span from poles 611 to 627, 37ft north of lines. Poor taper tree, sloped and weighted towards 
lines with exposed roots. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

125 Work Identified  CITY TREE Brush (misc) No 2 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Brush unit around guyline for pole 198. City brush Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all slash per unit pricing NO ADDRESS LISTED

126 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 22 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Not Needed
0.2 of pole 33167 to 645. 27 feet west of lines. Hard lean to facilities, declining canopy, codominant top. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 639W BROAD ST

127 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 16 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from pole 12 to pole 33167. 30 feet west of lines. Leaning towards lines with co-dominant top. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and debris 637W BROAD ST

128 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 50 ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Haul offsite
0.7 span from Pole 627 to Pole 12. 131 ft north of lines. Overmature. Codom top. Crown leans to line. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush. NO ADDRESS LISTED

129 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 25 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
Tree .8 of span from poles  to , 84ft south of lines. Tree has large wound at base and leans towards lines. 
Codominant. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 637W BROAD ST

130 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 21 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
Tree .9 of span from poles  to , 81ft south of lines. Tree has large wound at base and leans towards lines. 
Codominant with large amount of sign of beetle. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 637W BROAD ST

131 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 30 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
Tree .9 of span from poles  to , 84ft south of lines. Tree has large wound at base, has a slight lean away from 
lines but not enough to be certain it wonΓÇÖt fall the towards lines. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 637W BROAD ST

132 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 40 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
100 feet west of end pole. Tree has a completely brown top, it is on hill side, it has already been marked 
with yellow paint. We added to the markings. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 200 REDBUD WAY

133 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 31 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
Tree 85ft west Of endpole. Tree leans towards facilities. Has wound at base of tree. Needle blight present. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove wood, chip and pile slash. 
Tree has metal wire ingrown. 631 SPRING ST

134 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 45 ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Haul offsite
0.5 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 35 feet East of lines on edge of roadway. Tree has some branch die 
back. Trim will take more than 1/3 of canopy, overmature. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and brush 656W BROAD ST

135 Work Identified  CITY TREE Black Oak No 6 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
0.6 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 40 feet East of lines. Leaning towards lines. Poor taper. Arborist 
ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

136 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 24 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
0.3 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 28 feet East of lines. Leaning towards lines and struggling to get 
light. Declining canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

137 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 9 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite

0.2 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 15 feet East of lines. Just tall enough to strike. Shaded by large 
cedar that will be removed. Declining canopy, weighted towards lines, best to remove now. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush on property 656W BROAD ST

138 Work Identified Cedar No 60 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.1 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 8 feet North East of lines. Overhanging lines on both sides. Trim 
would take more than 1/3 of canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

139 Work Identified Cedar No 19 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite 0.1 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 10 feet north East of lines. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A
Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

140 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 41 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
0.4 span from 611 to 627. 58 ft Northeast of line. Uphill, lean and weight to line. Large defect in back side, 
woodpecker forage sign present. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

141 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 34 ABATE R3B_Rmv 3-B Haul offsite
0.4 span from 611 to 627. 66 ft Northeast of line. Uphill, trunk leans slightly away but canopy is leaning and 
weighted towards line. Woodpecker forage sign present. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

142 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 58 ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Haul offsite
114 ft north of Pole 627. Codom from base. Dead top. On slope to facilities. Signs of infestation. Reviewed 
by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush NO ADDRESS LISTED

143 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 21 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.5 span from 611 to 627. 56 ft Northeast of line. Uphill, sloped, lean and weight towards pole 611. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

144 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 43 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
115 ft Northeast of pole 611. Slight lean parallel to lines. Small codominant top in decline. Base has defects 
and apparent beginnings of rot. Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

145 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 48 ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Haul offsite
112 ft north of Pole 611. Overmature. Weight to line. Upslope of facilities. Multiple wounds and leaning to 
line. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush NO ADDRESS LISTED

146 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 29 ABATE F3A_FP-Rmv3 A Haul offsite
0.4 span from unmarked pole (120851472) to 611. 55 ft North of line. Woodpecker forage sign present, 
weighted towards line. Beginning erosion and root exposure. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

147 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 49 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
0.2 span from unmarked pole to 611. 90 ft North of line. Massive wound at base, branch dieback, and 
lumpy defects all way up Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED



148 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 27 ABATE F3A_FP-Rmv3 A Haul offsite
0.3 span from unmarked pole (120851472) to 611. 55 ft North of line. Woodpecker forage sign and beetle 
sign present. Beginning erosion and root exposure. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

149 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 48 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite
0.3 of span from unmarked to pole 198. 100 feet west of lines. Large wound at base. Reviewed by Arborist 
ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush on property 656W BROAD ST

150 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 19 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Not Needed
31 ft Northeast of pole 9357. Heavy lean to facility with very small canopy. Has light attached to it. High 
stump with final height above the light. Arborist ISA # 12836A. Remove all wood and slash 130 ORCHARD ST

151 Work Identified Locust, Black No 8 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
0.8 of span from pole 33167 to unmarked pole. Growing next to guy wire. Will strain guy in future. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

152 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 2 Do Not ABATE BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
Brush unit around unmarked pole. Hawthorn with many small stems growing around pole. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Included in unit pricing 656W BROAD ST

153 Work Identified Black Oak No 14 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Not Needed
Tree .7 of span from poles to unmarked pole, 22ft west of lines. Tree likely to break 4ft compliance zone 
within 18months, trim to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy. Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

154 Work Identified Cedar No 11 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Not Needed
Tree .7 of span from poles to unmarked pole, 22ft west of lines. Tree likely to break 4ft compliance zone 
within 18months, trim to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy. Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

155 Work Identified  CITY TREE Locust, Black No 4 Do Not ABATE R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite
Tree .9 of span from poles 33167 to unmarked, 3ft east of lines. Strike for guy and pole. Tree leans away but 
is fuel under lines

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush NO ADDRESS LISTED

156 Work Identified Black Oak No 9 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite

Tree 17ft west of unmarked pole. Tree previously topped and would need continuous topping in the future. 
Would also need to be trimmed away from guy, further removing canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 
12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

157 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 9 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Not Needed
Tree .8 of span from poles 33167 to unmarked pole, 37ft west of lines. Tree has poor taper. No tree to block 
it from lines Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

158 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 23 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
Tree 18ft west of unmarked pole. Tree overhangs, trim to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

159 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 47 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite

0.8 span from 226 to 9357. 50 ft East of line. At fence/property line. Has bat box on it. Leaning towards line, 
has multiple defects midway up trunk, lots of sapping and needle decline. High stump to fence height. 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 130 ORCHARD ST

160 Work Identified Cedar No 27 Do Not ABATE R3B_Rmv 3-B Haul offsite
Tree .1 of span from unmarked pole to , 11ft west of lines. Tree overhangs, trim to scope would remove 
more than 1/3 canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

161 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 4 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
0.1 of span from unmarked pole to pole 198. Directly under lines. Tree has poor taper, will need to be 
topped in future. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brish 656W BROAD ST

162 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 19 Not a Strike Tree R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
Tree .2 of span from unmarked pole to pole 198, under lines. Previously topped and would need continuous 
topping in the future. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 656W BROAD ST

163 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 30 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
0.9 span from Pole 120851472 to Unmarked Pole. 71 ft north of line. Beetle sign present and defect ~12 ft 
up Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

164 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 27 ABATE R3B_Rmv 3-B Haul offsite
0.6 span from Pole 120851472 to Unmarked Pole. 41 north of line. Lean to line, diplodia, wounds on trunk. 
Exposed roots undercut by erosion. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush NO ADDRESS LISTED

165 Work Identified Cedar No 19 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
Tree .3 of span from unmarked pole to 198, 70ft west of lines. Tree leans towards lines. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

166 Work Identified Black Oak Yes 6 ABATE F1A_FP-Rmv1 A Haul offsite 49 ft East of pole 9357. Dead. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 130 ORCHARD ST

167 Work Identified Locust, Black No 16 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
Tree .2 of span from unmarked pole to 198, 40ft west of lines. 2x stem. Large wound half way up stem. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

167 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 12 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
0.6 span from 226 to 9357. 60 ft East of line. Poor taper, canker at base, weak canopy that bends towards 
line. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 130 ORCHARD ST

169 Work Identified Liq Ambar (Sw Gum) No 12 ABATE R2D_Rmv2-B+Trt Haul offsite
0.5 span from Pole 167 to Pole 120851472. 8 ft south of line. Codom 15 ft from base. Within radial 
clearance, trim would remove > 1/3 of canopy, recommend removal Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush 547W BROAD ST

170 Work Identified Maple No 19 Do Not ABATE Trim Not Needed
0.3 span from Pole 167 to Pole 120851472. 12 ft south of line. Encroaching radial compliance, trim to evm 
scope. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Included in unit pricing 543W BROAD ST

171 Work Identified Birch No 15 ABATE R2D_Rmv2-B+Trt Haul offsite
0.1 span from Pole 167 to Pole 120851472. 12 ft south of line. Encroaching radial compliance and within 
pole clearance. Codom top. English white birch. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush 543W BROAD ST

172 Work Identified  CITY TREE Black Oak No 20 ABATE TO_Top Haul offsite
0.7 of span from pole 648 to pole 158. 30 feet East of lines. Tree is leaning towards lines but not the lines 
that we are patrolling for PSPS events. Strike potential to pole 158. Top to below lines 528E BROAD ST

173 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 2 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed 7 ft south of pole 167. Clear brush growing into pole. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Included in unit pricing 539W BROAD ST

174 Work Identified Black Walnut No 22 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Cut and Leave 14 ft south of Pole 167. Growth to pole. Overmature. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A
Cut 16ΓÇ¥ rounds for smaller limbs, 
remove wood >8 dbh, remove brush 539W BROAD ST

175 Work Identified Maple No 4 ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Cut and Leave
15 ft south of Pole 167. Striking distance to pole. Growth to pole. Leaning to pole. Suppressed. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Cut 16ΓÇ¥ rounds. Remove brush 539W BROAD ST

176 Work Identified Other No 13 Do Not ABATE TD_TopDirecti Haul offsite Basswood Tree 10ft north of endpole. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 504 BROAD ST

177 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 44 ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Cut and Leave
22 ft West of pole 198. Overhanging lines. Beetles present. Trim would remove >1/2 of canopy and 
warrants removal. Has service drop attached to it. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut into and leave as 16 inch 
firewood rounds. Remove all slash 121 ORCHARD ST



178 Work Identified Cedar No 19 Do Not ABATE R2A_Rmv 2-A Cut and Leave
0.2 span from 198 to 226. 12 ft West of line. Previously trimmed, overhanging lines with lean towards line. 
Additional trim would take >1/3 of remaining canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut into and leave as 16 inch 
firewood rounds. Remove all slash 121 ORCHARD ST

179 Work Identified Apple No 14 Do Not ABATE TD_TopDirecti Not Needed

27 ft Northwest of pole 198. Estimated dbh due to extensive vine presence. Inactive songbird nest in 
neighboring dogwood tree. Top direct trim to remove the part thatΓÇÖs growing towards the lines. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all slash per unit pricing 121 ORCHARD ST

180 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 30 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Cut and Leave
0.8 span from unmarked pole to 198. 18 ft West of line. Several bends midway up trunk causing slight lean 
to line. Next to service drops, has an old wire sticking out of it. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut into and leave as 16 inch 
firewood rounds. Remove all slash 121 ORCHARD ST

181 Refusal Atlas Cedar No 49 Do Not ABATE NW_No Work Not Needed 49 feet south of pole 137 and 80 feet east of end pole. Tree can strike pole 137 and lines. //owner refuses to                TBD 449 BROAD ST

182 Refusal Sequoia, Giant No 54 Do Not ABATE NW_No Work Not Needed Tree 78ft south of endpole. Weighted away// owner refuses to have anyone come on to property to measure        TBD 449 BROAD ST

183 Refusal Atlas Cedar No 36 Do Not ABATE NW_No Work Not Needed Tree 90ft south of endpole. Slight lean away from facility //owner refuses to have anyone come on to proper           TBD 449 BROAD ST

184 Refusal Privet No 35 Do Not ABATE NW_No Work Not Needed 59 feet south of pole 137. Tree is behind fence with multiple stems. Can strike pole 137 guy wire only. //own                   TBD 449 BROAD ST

185 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 24 Do Not ABATE R3B_Rmv 3-B Cut and Leave
0.8 span from unmarked pole to 198. 8 ft West of line. Overhanging lines and leaning towards line. Trim 
would remove >1/3 of canopy and warrants removal. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut into and leave as 16 inch 
firewood rounds. Remove all slash 121 ORCHARD ST

186 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine Yes 13 ABATE F2A_FP-Rmv2 A Cut and Leave 0.8 span from unmarked pole to 198. 9 ft West of line. Almost dead. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A
Cut into and leave as 16 inch 
firewood rounds. Remove all slash 121 ORCHARD ST

187 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 34 ABATE R3B_Rmv 3-B Cut and Leave

0.7 span from unmarked pole to 198. 5 ft West of line. Overhanging lines. Trim would remove >1/3 of 
canopy and warrants removal. Old sappy basal wound that looks like beetle sign present. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut into and leave as 16 inch 
firewood rounds. Remove all slash 121 ORCHARD ST

188 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 27 ABATE R3B_Rmv 3-B Cut and Leave

0.7 span from unmarked pole to 198. 4 ft West of line. Codominant top. Overhanging lines, very weak 
canopy on back side. Trim would remove >1/3 of canopy and warrants removal. Slight lean to line, trunk is 
~2 ft from conductor. Reviewed by Arborist ISA #

Cut into and leave as 16 inch 
firewood rounds. Remove all slash 121 ORCHARD ST

189 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 50 ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Cut and Leave

0.6 span from unmarked pole to 198. 7 ft West of line. Codominant top. Overhanging lines, has second 
codominant stump ~25 ft up with signs of rot and beetles on back side. Old wounds near top third of main 
trunk. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Cut into and leave as 16 inch 
firewood rounds. Remove all slash 121 ORCHARD ST

190 Work Identified  CITY TREE Atlas Cedar No 52 Do Not ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Haul offsite

City tree. Walking tour tree #41. Tree is 6ft southwest of pole 137. Tree within 10ft of pole, tree overhangs 
lines and 2 guy wires. Multiple limbs actively straining guy wires. Trim to scope would remove more than 
1/3 canopy. Due to proximity, continuou Remove all wood and slash 517W BROAD ST

191 Refusal Douglas Fir No 35 Do Not ABATE NW_No Work Not Needed 76 feet southwest of pole 137. Tree is behind fence and can barely strike pole 137 guy wire. //owner refuses                 TBD 449 BROAD ST

192 Work Identified Locust, Black No 6 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
Tree .3 of span from unmarked pole to 198, 40ft west of lines. Tree leans towards lines. Possible wood rat 
nest. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

193 Work Identified Locust, Black No 6 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
Tree .3 of span from unmarked pole to 198, 40ft west of lines. Tree leans towards lines. Possible wood rat 
nest. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

194 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 44 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Not Needed

0.5 span from 198 to 226. 55 ft West of line. Codominant top, moderately poor needle retention, large 
healed over wound on back side with likely rot inside due to several shelf fungi present. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD pending 123 ORCHARD ST

195 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 26 Not a Strike Tree R3B_Rmv 3-B Haul offsite 0.3 span from 670 to (). Under line. Previously topped and dying. Arborist ISA # 12836A
Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

196 Work Identified Cedar No 12 ABATE F2A_FP-Rmv2 A Haul offsite
0.6 span from 670 to unmarked pole. 18 ft Northeast of line. Roots undercut by driveway and slight lean to 
line. Arborist ISA # 12836A.

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

197 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 9 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
0.2 of span from pole 607 to unmarked pole. 35 feet East of lines. Large Wound near base of trunk. Arborist 
ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

198 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 16 Not a Strike Tree R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
Tree .8 of span from poles 670 to unmarked, directly under lines. Tree likely killed by previous topping. Fuel 
underlines. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

199 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 2 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
Brush point around unmarked pole consisting of dead manzanita and small cedar saplings. Arborist ISA # 
12836A. Chip and pile slash per unit pricing 656W BROAD ST

200 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 25 ABATE R3B_Rmv 3-B Haul offsite

Tree .8 of span from poles 670 to unmarked pole, 4ft south of lines. Sign of beetle. Tree leans away, but is in 
declining health and we do not feel comfortable leaving it standalone after removal of other trees in the 
stand.  Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

201 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 7 ABATE F1A_FP-Rmv1 A Haul offsite
0.9 span from 670 to unmarked pole. 5 ft Northeast of line. 20 ft Southeast of unmarked pole. Previously 
topped, nearly dead with beetles present. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

202 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 14 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
Tree .9 of span from poles 670 to unmarked pole, under lines. Tree has strike potential for pole. Previously 
topped and would need continuous topping in the future. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST



203 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 28 ABATE R3B_Rmv 3-B Haul offsite
Tree .9 of span from poles 670 to unmarked pole, 5ft west of lines. Tree overhangs, trim would remove 
more than 1/3 canopy. Beetle present. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

204 Work Identified Cedar No 33 ABATE R3B_Rmv 3-B Haul offsite

0.2 span from Pole 137 to Pole 14. 5 ft West of line. Basal lean to line. Codom above dbh to line. 
Overhanging. Within radial compliance. Root system surrounded by concrete. Decay near included bark. 
Needle blight. Trim would not resolve other defects. R Remove wood and brush 519W BROAD ST

205 Work Identified  CITY TREE Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Brush unit .5 of span from pole 670 to unmarked, under lines. Fuel load reduction. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

206 Work Identified Other No 17 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite

0.5 span from Pole 137 to Pole 14. 10 ft West of line. Codom from base. Lean and growth to line. 
Encroaching radial compliance, highly recommend against trimming. Species: American basswood (Tilia 
americana). Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush 519W BROAD ST

207 Work Identified  CITY TREE Black Oak No 4 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .5 of span from pole 670 to unmarked, under lines. Tree likely to break 4ft compliance zone within 
18months. Trim to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy. Fuel load reduction. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

208 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 6 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .5 of span from pole 670 to unmarked, 11ft west of lines. Tree previously topped. Fuel load reduction. 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

209 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 44 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite

0.1 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. 130 ft Northeast of line. In drainage. Heavy lean to line, extensive 
beetle sign. Unsure of property boundary and ownership but both owners are fully on board with removal. 
Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 706W BROAD ST

210 Work Identified  CITY TREE Black Oak No 8 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
0.3 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 23 feet East of lines. Tree has been trimmed in past, growing 
heavily towards lines, continuous topping not recommended. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

211 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 8 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .6 of span from pole 670 to unmarked, 15ft west of lines. Tree previously topped. Fuel load reduction. 
Dead. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

212 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine No 34 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
Tree .4 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, 38ft west of lines. Tree has wound at base and near where 
comm lines are attached. Large amount of gall rust. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

213 Work Identified Birch No 16 ABATE R2D_Rmv2-B+Trt Cut and Leave
0.8 span from Pole 137 to Pole 14. 30 ft west of line. Signs of Bronze birch borer infestation. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Cut 16ΓÇ¥ rounds, remove brush 523W BROAD ST

314 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 33 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
0.5 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 106 feet East of lines. Dog leg half way up trunk, declining canopy, 
unstable soil Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

215 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 26 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite

Tree .4 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, 12ft west of lines. Tree has been previously topped, new 
leader grows from side with poor angle, weighted towards lines. Codominant tree, 2x stem Arborist ISA # 
12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

216 Work Identified Liq Ambar (Sw Gum) No 21 ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.3 span from Pole 14 to Pole 167. 12 ft south of line. Overhanging line. Dieback of branches. Multiple tops. 
Slightly weighted to line. Recommend against trimming. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood and brush 535W BROAD ST

217 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 22 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
Tree .6 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, 21ft west of lines. Tree has been previously lost top. new 
leaders grow towards lines. Tree also leans to lines. Wound near base. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

218 Work Identified Black Oak No 6 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree .7 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, 9ft west of lines. Fuel reduction below the lines. Arborist 
ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

219 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 20 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
Tree .8 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, 26ft west of lines. Tree growing under larger tree. Appears 
to be in declining health. Old top appears to have broken off. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

220 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 20 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
97 feet East of unmarked pole. Leaning heavily towards lines, dying canopy, unstable soil. Arborist ISA # 
12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brish 656W BROAD ST

221 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 30 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
0.9 of span from pole 645 to unmarked pole. 110 feet East of span. Unstable bank, exposed roots. On edge 
of drainage with erosion around and under roots. Weighted towards lines. Arborist ISA # 12836A.

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

222 Work Identified Cedar No 4 Do Not ABATE R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite 13 ft East of unmarked pole. Can strike pole. Arborist ISA # 12836A
Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

223 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 10 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
0.9 of span from pole 645 to unmarked pole. Poor taper, can trike lines and pole itself. Very little canopy. 
Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

224 Work Identified  CITY TREE Ponderosa Pine Yes 29 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
County tree, .9 of span from unmarked to endpole, 64ft west of lines. Tree has dead top with sign of gall 
rust and needle blight. Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove all wood and slash 656W BROAD ST

225 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Do Not ABATE BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
0.9 span from 670 to unmarked pole. Under line. Brush unit consisting of sapling cedar, black oak, and live 
oaks. Arborist ISA # 12836A Chip and pile slash per unit pricing 656W BROAD ST

226 Work Identified Live Oak No 7 ABATE F1A_FP-Rmv1 A Haul offsite
8 ft Northwest of unmarked pole. Combined dbh, 2 stem. Majority of branches growing within 10 ft of pole. 
Remove for pole clearance. Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

227 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
0.2 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. Under line. Brush unit consisting of live oak and cedar saplings, 
manzanita, and an almost dead pine. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Chip and pile slash per unit pricing 656W BROAD ST

228 Work Identified Willow No 4 Do Not ABATE R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite Tree at endpole, under lines. Tree within 10ft of pole. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A TBD 700W BROAD ST

229 Work Identified Live Oak No 9 Not a Strike Tree R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite
0.3 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. Directly under lines. 3 small stems. Combined DBH. Will need 
continuous topping. Fuel under lines. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
debris 656W BROAD ST



230 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 31 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
0.3 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. 32 ft Northeast of line. Heavily weighted with moderate lean to 
line. Sign of beetles part way up trunk Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

231 Work Identified Black Oak No 7 Not a Strike Tree R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite
0.3 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. Directly under lines. Tree will need continuous topping. 
Removal recommended to reduce fuel under lines. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

232 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 2 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Haul offsite
0.3 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. Directly under lines. Some small black oak and live oak 
saplings. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

233 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 8 ABATE F1A_FP-Rmv1 A Haul offsite
0.3 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. 45 ft Northeast of line. Poor taper, in decline. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

234 Work Identified Willow No 6 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree tree .9 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, under line. 2x stem ladder fuel removal. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

235 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 20 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
0.3 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. 45 ft Northeast of line. Sparse, declining canopy with moderate 
lean to line. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

236 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 14 Not a Strike Tree R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
Tree tree .8 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, under line. Tree previously topped and would need 
continuous topping in the future. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

237 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 8 ABATE F1A_FP-Rmv1 A Haul offsite
0.4 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. 43 ft Northeast of line. Sparse declining canopy, beetles present. 
Poor taper. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

238 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 19 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
0.4 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. 25 feet East of lines. Leaning towards lines, sparse and 
declining canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

239 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 7 ABATE F1A_FP-Rmv1 A Haul offsite
0.5 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. 35 ft Northeast of line. Sparse declining canopy. Poor taper. 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

240 Work Identified Black Oak No 5 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite

Tree tree .8 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, 4ft north of lines. Tree likely to break 4ft compliance 
zone with 18 months. Trim to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 
12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

241 Work Identified Black Oak No 6 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite

Tree tree .8 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, 6ft north of lines. Tree likely to break 4ft compliance 
zone with 18 months. Trim to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 
12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

242 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 42 Do Not ABATE R4B_Rmv 4-B Haul offsite
Tree tree .8 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, 18ft north of lines. Tree overhangs lines, trim to scope 
would remove more than 1/3 canopy. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

243 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 18 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Haul offsite
0.5 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. 13 feet East of lines. Overhanging lines. Trim would take more 
than 1/3 of canopy considering almost all of canopy is on the line side. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

244 Work Identified Black Oak No 4 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
Tree tree .8 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, under lines. Under line fuel reduction. Reviewed by 
Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

245 Work Identified Live Oak No 4 Not a Strike Tree R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite
0.5 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. Under line and growing up into lines. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 
12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

246 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 11 ABATE F1B_FP-Rmv1 B Haul offsite
0.4 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. 11 feet East of lines. Poor taper, almost no canopy, removal of 
surrounding trees will lead to wind exposure and sway. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

247 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
Brush unit .9 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, under lines. Fuel reduction under lines. Small willows 
and locust Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

248 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
Tree tree .8 of span from unmarked pole to endpole, 15ft south of lines. fuel reduction. Oak and manzanita 
Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

249 Work Identified Cedar No 4 Not a Strike Tree R1A_Rmv 1-A Haul offsite
0.4 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. Directly under lines. Will need to be topped eventually. 
Remove for fuel reduction under lines. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

250 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 12 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
0.5 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. 15 ft Northeast of line. Bend midway up causing overall lean to 
line. Overhanging lines. Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 656W BROAD ST

251 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
0.5 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. Under line. Brush unit consisting of live oak, small pine, black 
oak, etc Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A Chip and pile slash per unit pricing 656W BROAD ST

252 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 30 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
120 ft East of End Pole. Completely dead, with fungus present. Old TV antenna installed on top and wires 
running down Reviewed by Arborist ISA # 12836A

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 706W BROAD ST

253 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Brush unit at endpole
Cut wood to 16in rounds, remove 
slash 700W BROAD ST

254 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 33 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
88 feet East of end pole. Leaning severely towards lines on edge of embankment. Reviewed by Arborist ISA 
# 12836A

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 706W BROAD ST

255 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 37 ABATE F4B_FP-Rmv4 B Haul offsite 140 ft East of End Pole. Slight lean to line. Dead top. Branches in decline. Beginnings of rot at base
Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 706W BROAD ST

256 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine No 23 ABATE F2B_FP-Rmv2 B Haul offsite
0.8 span from unmarked pole to End Pole. 80 ft East of line. Unstable base with beginning erosion and 
moderate lean to line.

Remove all wood. Chip and pile 
slash 706W BROAD ST

257 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 28 ABATE F3B_FP-Rmv3 B Haul offsite
0.7 of span from unmarked pole to end pole. Tree has a completely dead top, it is leaning towards facilities 
on the edge of a hill.

Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 706W BROAD ST

258 Work Identified Ponderosa Pine Yes 40 Not a Strike Tree R4B_Rmv 4-B Haul offsite 130 ft southwest of end pole. Previously topped. Dying. Hazard. Remove wood and brush 129 ORCHARD ST



259 Work Identified  CITY TREE Locust, Black No 4 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite
City Tree .3 of span from poles 645 to 670, under lines. Fuel reduction under lines. Continuous topping 
would be needed in the future, likely to weaken and kill tree. Remove all wood and slash 641W BROAD ST

260 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 5 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite Tree .3 of span from poles 33167 to 645, 22ft north of lines. Leans towards lines. Fuel reduction under lines Remove wood, chip and pile slash 656W BROAD ST

261 Work Identified  CITY TREE Cedar No 7 Not a Strike Tree R1B_Rmv 1-B Haul offsite 0.5 of span from pole 33167 to pole 645. 18 feet north of line. Remove for fuel reduction under the lines.
Remove all wood and chip and pile 
brush 656W BROAD ST

262 Work Identified  CITY TREE Brush (misc) No 3 Do Not ABATE BC_Br Rmv Not Needed
Tree .9 of span from poles 12 to 33167, under lines. Strike height for guy . Fuel reduction under lines. Inside 
cemetery fence Remove all wood and slash NO ADDRESS LISTED

263 Work Identified  CITY TREE Juniper No 1 Not a Strike Tree BCS_Br Rmv+Trt Not Needed
0.1 span from Pole 167 to Pole 120851472. Brush under line and in pole clearance. Clear 15 ft radius. City 
tree Included in unit pricing 543W BROAD ST

264 Work Identified  CITY TREE Juniper No 1 Not a Strike Tree BCS_Br Rmv+Trt Not Needed 0.3 span from Pole 167 to Pole 120851472. Brush Directly under line. Fuel reduction. City tree Included in unit pricing 543W BROAD ST

265 Work Identified  CITY TREE Black Walnut Yes 8 Not a Strike Tree R2D_Rmv2-B+Trt Haul offsite 0.3 span from Pole 167 to Pole 120851472. Directly under line. Fuel reduction under line Remove wood and brush. City tree 543W BROAD ST

266 Work Identified Liq Ambar (Sw Gum) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BCS_Br Rmv+Trt Not Needed
0.5 span from Pole 167 to Pole 120851472. 11 ft south of line. Growth to line. Owner prefers removal now 
to avoid future tree work Included in unit pricing 547W BROAD ST

267 Work Identified Cedar No 21 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Cut and Leave
Tree 15ft east of endpole. Tree likely to break  compliance within 18months. Trim to scope would remove 
more than 1/3 canopy

Cut wood into 16 inch lengths and 
leave on property. Remove the 
remaining slash 123 NIVENS LN

268 Work Identified Locust, Black No 10 Not a Strike Tree R1D_Rmv1-B+Trt Cut and Leave
Tree .6 of span from poles 198 to endpole, under lines. Tree within 4ft compliance zone of conductor. Trim 
to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy.

Cut wood to 16in lengths, remove 
slash 123 NIVENS LN

269 Work Identified Brush (misc) No 3 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Brush unit .6 of span from poles 198 to endpole, under lines. Fuel reduction
Cut wood to 16in lengths, remove 
slash 123 NIVENS LN

270 Work Identified Maple No 5 Not a Strike Tree R1D_Rmv1-B+Trt Cut and Leave Tree .7 of span from poles 198 to endpole, under lines. Fuel reduction under lines. 2x stem
Cut wood to 16in lengths, remove 
all slash 123 NIVENS LN

271 Work Identified Cedar No 3 Not a Strike Tree BC_Br Rmv Not Needed Brush unit .7 of span from poles 198 to endpole, under lines. Fuel reduction
Cut wood to 16in lengths, remove 
all slash 123 NIVENS LN

272 Work Identified Cedar No 22 Do Not ABATE R2B_Rmv 2-B Cut and Leave
Tree .7 of span from poles 198 to endpole, 6ft east of lines. Tree previously topped and has new poor leader 
with strike potential. It would need continuous topping, in the future, likely to weaken and kill tree.

Cut wood into 16ΓÇ¥ and leave on 
property. Remove remaining brush 123 NIVENS LN

273 Work Identified Apple No 13 Not a Strike Tree R2C_Rmv2-A+Trt Cut and Leave
Tree .7 of span from poles 198 to endpole, under lines. Likely to break 4ft compliance within 18months, 
trim to scope would remove more than 1/3 canopy. 2x stem

Cut wood into 16 inches and leave 
on property. Remove remaining 
brush, herbicide okay 123 NIVENS LN

274 Work Identified Walnut No 25 ABATE TD_TopDirecti Haul offsite

0.4 of span from pole 14 to pole 167. 30 feet north of lines. Wound half way up trunk, some bark falling off, 
lean toward facilities. Tree needs to be top to eliminate risk of falling on lines. Owners understand that it 
may harm the tree or even kill it.

Remove all wood and slash. Would 
prefer to only have branches in 
parcel note photo removed, if 
possible 529E BROAD ST



 

             
 

 

August 5, 2020 
 
Nevada City Department of Public Works 
317 Broad Street  
Nevada City, CA  95959 
 
RE: PG&E Tree Removal Permit Application 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
Jefferson Resource Company, contracted by PG&E, has identified trees that are deemed to be a significant public 
safety hazard and should be removed as proposed within the scope of this utility work. Each tree that has been 
signed up for removal has been inspected by an International Society of Arboriculture Certified Arborist. The 
certified arborists on staff are Alyson Stubbendick WE-12637A and Brian Hoy WE-12836A.  
 
These trees exhibit defects including structural deformities, disease, and/or overhanging limbs or heavy lean and 
meet the definition of a danger tree (“hazard tree”) in accordance with the Forest Practice Rules (14 CCR 895.1) 
pursant to CA PRC 4292 and PRC 4293. 
 
Danger Tree means any tree located on or adjacent to a utility right-of-way or facility that could damage utility 
facilities should it fall where: the tree leans toward the right-of-way, or (2) the tree is defective because of any 
cause, such as: heart or root rot, shallow roots, excavation, bad crotch, dead or with dead top, deformity, cracks 
or splits, or any other reason that could result in the tree or a main lateral of the tree falling. See Chapter VII, 
Hazardous Tree Identification, Powerline Fire Prevention Field Guide-1977, A Joint Publication of the California 
Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, U.S. Forest Service, and U.S. Bureau of Land Management. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
/s/  Alyson Stubbendick 
ISA Certified Arborist WE-12637A 
 
 
CC: Joanne Drummond, Pacific Gas & Electric 

Anderson Office  ◼  O 530.364.2630  ◼  19690 Hirsch Court, Suite 2, Anderson, CA 96007 

Diamond Springs Office  ◼   O 530.497.5236  ◼  4232 Fowler Lane, Suite 201, Diamond Springs, CA 95619 

Grass Valley Office  ◼   O 530.497.5236  ◼  331 Horizon Circle, Grass Valley, CA 95945 

Corporate Office 

O  530.841.2630 

F   530.841.2632 

PO Box 886, Yreka, CA 96097 

746 S. Main St., Yreka, CA 96097 

jeffersonresource.com 



 
BROAD STREET – PART 1 



639WBroadSt_facingwest_nearPole645



656WBroadSt_Overview_OverhangingLeaning



656WBroadSt_UnderlineView_OverhangingLeaning



BroadSt_FacingNorth_Lines_canopyLean



BroadSt_FacingNorth_StreetView



CatholicCemetery_FacingNorth_Intersection



CatholicCemetery_FacingNorth_Intersection_zoom



PioneerCemetery_Overview



Pole670_facingN_ExcessiveVegetationUnderline



pole670_Overview_density



BROAD STREET – PART 2 



Streetview_WBroadSt_fromPole645_facingSouth



SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_infestedpine



SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_infestedpine_canopy



SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_infestedpine_dbh10



SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_infestedpine_trunk



SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_infestedpines



SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_Overview_1of2



SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_Overview_2of2



VP_AV115-H23_1723906_2020_DeadTopCedar_Antena



VP_AV115-H23_1727735_2020



VP_AV115-H23_1733000_2020_topped_failing_underline



BROAD STREET – PART 3 



VP_AV115-H23_1733042_2020_entiretree_deadunderline



VP_AV115-H23_1733042_2020_FungusZoom



VP_AV115-H23_1733273_2020_overview_severelean_highlighted



VP_AV115-H23_1733273_2020_overview_severelean_original



VP_AV115-H23_1733588_2020_MassiveWound



VP_AV115-H23_1733725_2020_branchdieback



VP_AV115-H23_1733725_2020_EntireTree



VP_AV115-H23_1734148_2020_Dead



VP_AV115-H24_1728969_2020_view_withlines



BROAD STREET – PART 4 



VP_AV115-H24_1728969_2020_wholetree_forkedcrown



VP_AV115-H24_1729472_2020_canopy



VP_AV115-H24_1729472_2020_canopyzoom



VP_AV115-H24_1729472_2020_EntireTree



VP_AV115-H24_1729472_2020_entiretree_fromBroadSt



VP_AV115-H24_1729851_2020_basalforaging



VP_AV115-H24_1729851_2020_base



VP_AV115-H24_1729851_2020_canopy



VP_AV115-H24_1729851_2020_frontDBH_foraging



VP_AV115-H24_1729852_2020_LeftLean_VP_AV115-H24_1729851_RightCanopyDecline



BROAD STREET – PART 5 



VP_AV115-H24_1729852_2020_LeftLean_VP_AV115-H24_1729851_RightCanopyDecline_2



VP_AV115-H24_1729854_2020



VP_AV115-H24_1729870_2020_basalwound



VP_AV115-H24_1729870_2020_beetles



VP_AV115-H24_1729870_2020_farthertree_blackdefects



VP_AV115-H24_1730012_2020_basalwound



VP_AV115-H24_1730012_2020_basalwound_zoom



VP_AV115-H24_1730488_2020_defects



\J? _ l\\/1\S- �1Lf_
\ 131.,i s _ iozo 

VP_AV115-H24_1732185_2020 ATLAS CEDAR



BROAD STREET – PART 6 



VP_AV115-H24_1732185_2020_canopy ATLAS CEDAR



VP_AV115-H24_1732185_2020_Pole ATLAS CEDAR



VP_AV115-H24_1732185_2020_wholetree ATLAS CEDAR



VP_AV115-H24_1733184_2020_EntireTree



ORCHARD STREET – PART 1 



133OrchardSt_refusal_pole226



OrchardSt_facingN_fromPole226



OrchardSt_facingS_fromPole9357



OrchardSt_FacingSouth



Pole198_facingWest_DenseOverhang



Pole198_PinesOverhanging_ViewfromCatholicCemetery



Pole198_tapfacingEast_vegetationunderline_overhanging



Pole198_ViewfromBelow



Pole198_ViewWest_AlongCatholicCemetery



Pole9357_FacingSouth



VP_AV115-H23_1725715_2020_Canopy



ORCHARD STREET – PART 2 



VP_AV115-H23_1725715_2020_EntireTree



VP_AV115-H24_1722090_2020_SevereLeanOverhang



VP_AV115-H24_1722090_2020_SevereLeanOverhang_ViewFromBelow



VP_AV115-H24_1724895_2020_Dead_PoleView



VP_AV115-H24_1725170_2020_Dead



VP_AV115-H24_1726922_2020_heavybeetleinfestation



VP_AV115-H24_1726922_2020_heavybeetleinfestation_uppertrunk



VP_AV115-H24_1731192_2020_Overhang_Beetles



City of Nevada City 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TO:  Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING DATE:  August 20, 2020 

APPLICANT: Michael and Sandy Kent, prospective owners (Michael and Kristine Lane, owners of 
record) 

RE: Proposed Tree Removal, Demolition and Rebuild of an existing Residence at 414 Broad St. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Architectural Review  and Demolition Applications
2. Applicant’s Project Description
3. Floor Plans and Elevations
4. Presentation Exhibit (Photos of residence, Engineer’s Statement, Tree work contract and photos)
5. Photos of similar homes
6. Potential color options
7. Design Guidelines: Residences within the Historic District

MULTIPLE ACTIONS REQUESTED 
1. Approve the removal of four trees
2. Approve the demolition of the Historic District residence
3. Approve the Architectural Review application for the new 2,575 square foot residence

SITE SPECIFICATIONS 
Lot Size: .07 acres Lot Coverage: 100% 
Zoning: GB-HD: General Business-Historic District Building Height: 40-feet 
Setbacks: None Historical District: Within 

BACKGROUND: Assessor records indicate a construction date of 1880. The 1898 Sanborn Map indicates that the 
property was used as a dwelling at that time. The National Register Historic District inventory describes the 
building as a contributing building as follows: 

B-38 414 Broad Street
Darlene Crowley Residence
Built: 1880
This one-story frame building is a
private dwelling. The entry is
deeply recessed,
and the weaterboard siding extends
all the way from street level to the
sharp gable
facing Broad Street.

National Registry Description 1898 Sanborn Map Excerpt 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

PROJECT PROPOSAL:  
 
Demolition Proposal: The applicant is proposing to demolish the existing 1880-era 984 square foot residence and 
the detached garage accessed off Commercial Street.  Section 17.88.040 of the City Municipal Code prohibits the 
demolition of those buildings of special historical interest or value, or which are an example of the Mother Lode type 
of architecture unless the planning commission makes a finding that the  building is so damaged or dilapidated that it 
cannot be reasonably repaired or restored. They have attached photographs of the residence showing its extensive 
disrepair and have provided a statement from Civil Engineer, John Payne, certifying the substandard construction of 
the structure. 
 
Residential Rebuild: The applicants are proposing to construct a new two-story residence totaling 2,575 square feet 
and a new one-car garage on the same foundation as the existing garage. No elevations have been submitted for the 
garage so this feature will need to return to the Planning Commission for Architectural Review.   Proposed materials 
include cement board siding (due to fire concerns), vinyl or aluminum clad wood windows and metal or composite 
shingle roof. However, Design Guidelines suggest that alterations to older homes match existing, historic materials. 
Synthetic materials with no historic basis are discouraged on both existing older home additions and renovations, 
with limited exception for windows which may be metal clad in cases that mimic the proportions of an historic wood 
profile.  The applicant has indicated that color will be “determined in collaboration with the Planning Commission,”  
though they have indicated some color preferences in the Architectural Review application.   
 

  
Existing Residence Proposed Rendering 

Tree Removal Proposal: The applicant is also requesting to remove a Tree of Heaven (in the front, affecting the 
structure), and Incense Cedar, Windmill Palm and a Giant Sequoia for a total of four trees. All are being removed in 
order to accommodate the new structures and residential parking.  The applicant has submitted photos of the trees to 
be removed.  

 
REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS:  
Architectural Review:  The Planning Commission, in their role as the Architectural Review Committee, is required 
to review proposals for the erection or exterior alterations of any structure, or the remodel, demolition, or razing of 
any structure. Findings must be made that structures are consistent with Motherlode Architecture and compatible 
with the surrounding neighborhood. Section 17.68.030 defines “Mother Lode type of architecture” as that type of 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

architecture generally used in the Mother Lode region of the state of California during the period from 1849 and 
1900.Such type of architecture involves the use of wood and brick as primary material, and is generally characterized 
by such design features such as gabled or shed roofs, tall and narrow windows and doors, dormer windows, iron or 
wooden shutters balconies, wooden awnings, and ornamental scroll work.” 
 
Demolition: Section 17.88.040 of the City Municipal Code prohibits the demolition of those buildings of special 
historical interest or value, or which are an example of the Mother Lode type of architecture unless the planning 
commission makes a finding that the building is so damaged or dilapidated that it cannot be reasonably repaired or 
restored. The planning commission may require the applicant to pay for city staff or one or more expert consultants 
to evaluate the historical significance and/or condition of the building.  
 
Tree Preservation: Pursuant to Section 18.01.070 of the City Municipal Code, the Planning Commission may 
impose mitigation on the loss of any protected tree(s). The total replacement requirement shall be based on the 
number of tree(s) removed. Mitigation replanting or seedling protection shall be provided with the intent to reflect 
the character of the site prior to tree removal. 
 
Environmental Review: Because the residential use is permitted by right in the GB zoning designation, local 
authority can only be ministerial in nature. Sections 21080 of the Public Resource Code, of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), exempts ministerial projects from environmental review.   
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 

A. Make a Motion to Approve the  Demolition Application for the new residence making the findings 1 and 2 
pursuant to Sections 17.88.040 and of the City Municipal Code: 

1) That the  residence and garage at 414 Broad Street do not hold special historical interest or value and/or 
are not an example of Motherlode architecture; OR 

2) That the that the structures are so dilapidated that they cannot be reasonably repaired  

B. Make a Motion to Approve the Architectural Review Application for the proposed residence making the 
findings 1 and 2 pursuant to Section 17.88.040 of the City Municipal Code: 

1) That the proposed residence is generally compatible with Motherlode style Architecture; and 

2) That the proposed residence is compatible with the context of the surrounding neighborhood; and 

C. Make a Motion to Approve the Tree Removal Applications making the findings 1 through 4 pursuant to 
Section 18.01.070 of the City Municipal Code: 

1) That the removal of the four trees identified in the exhibits provided by the applicant are necessary for 
reasonable use of the property. 

RECOMMENDED CONIDTIONS OF APPROVAL:  

1. Nevada City contracts with the Nevada County Building Department for issuance of permits.  The County will 
not issue permits unless the plans have been stamped and approved by Nevada City.  Therefore, prior to issuance 
of a building permit, submit three sets of plans to Nevada City Planning Department, along with a filing fee of 
$100 (made payable to the City of Nevada City).  The plans will be reviewed by the City Planner and City 
Engineer for consistency with the approval and will require their signatures.   

2. All improvements shall substantially comply with the exhibits presented and approved by the Planning 
Commission.  

3. If approved for demolition the one-car garage shall be reviewed by the planning commission for Architectural 
Review. 

4. Any firm or person removing the trees shall obtain a business license from City Hall 

5. A Planning Commission member may be appointed as a Liaison to assist the applicant with any minor 
modifications to the permit, if needed. 













414 Broad St. 

Nevada City, CA 95959 

Project Description 

 

Demolish existing hazardous structure retaining below grade basement brick vault and replace with a period 
appropriate 2 story residential/mixed use 3-bedroom, 2.5 bathroom building of approximately $2500+- sq. ft. 
with a lot foot print of approximately 1284 sq. ft. and a building height of 29’ 10” which will be in line with 
adjacent properties. Roof pitch will be 6/12 pitched gable with unfinished attic space. Building colors to be 
determined in collaboration with Planning Commission. We have included with our submission a letter from John 
D. Payne of Del Valle Consulting attesting to the fact the building cannot be reasonably repaired or restored. 

In addition to the main structure, the existing garage with be removed and a new 1 car garage built on the 
existing foundation and develop an additional 1 car off street parking spot. 

The project will also include the removal of up to 4 trees. One tree in the front of the house and three in the rear. 
We have included a bid with tree description from Acton Arboriculture. 

The new home will be set back off the sidewalk so to align with the existing structures to the west and to create a 
porch similar to those structures, with the exception of including a second story balcony similar to the New York 
Hotel directly east of the proposed home. 

Materials will include standard wood frame with period appropriate styled cement board siding (due to fire 
concerns), vinyl or aluminum clad wood windows, Metal or composite shingle roof. 

 

 















Invoice
DATE

2/11/2020

INVOICE #

15219

ESCROW/BILLING INFO

Sellers: Mike and Kris Wade
414 Broad Street
Nevada City, CA 95959

JOB ADDRESS

Sellers: Mike and Kris Wade
414 Broad Street
Nevada City, CA 95959

ORDERED BY

Danielle

TERMS

NO CHARGE

SERVICE DATE

2/11/2020

REAL ESTATE FIRM

EXP Realty

REALTOR

Danielle Sosnowski

Total

Balance Due

Subtotal
Sales Tax (7.5%)

Payments/Credits

Urke Septic & Sewer
13340 Nevada City Ave, Grass Valley, CA 95945
Office 530 274-3902  Fax 530 274-0308
SCL #652428  office@urkeseptic.com

Thank You

DESCRIPTION QTY RATE AMOUNT
Backflow bid 1 0.00 0.00

We found an existing sewer backflow installed on the north side of the building
next to the deck.  The overflow device is missing the popper.  Overflow devices
are not required in Nevada City.  A new overflow device needs to be installed
or a threaded cap installed.

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00
$0.00

$0.00



414 BROAD STREET
K E N T  |  A U G U S T  2 0 T H ,  2 0 2 0

1 2 3

CURRENT PHOTO OF HOME 

House currently sits at sidewalk level

Dialogue: Home is in complete disrepair
and an eye sore to the historic district. 

CURRENT PHOTO OF HOME 

House is blocked by a tree growing into
the structure and intruding onto the
sidewalk

Dialogue: Proposed to remove tree and
push house back 7 feet to be in
alignment with two house to the left as
seen in photo. 

PROPOSED  HOME 

Proposed structure

Dialogue: Addition of a second floor 
adding 9 feet to height of structure as
well as adding a recessed second
entrance which is common in the area. 



414  BROAD  STREET  

CURRENT HOUSE PHOTOS

HOU S E  I S  I N  D I S R E P A I R  



414  BROAD  STREET  

CURRENT HOUSE PHOTOS

HOU S E  I S  I N  D I S R E P A I R  



414  BROAD  STREET  

CURRENT HOUSE PHOTOS

HOU S E  I S  I N  D I S R E P A I R  



414  BROAD  STREET  

CURRENT HOUSE PHOTOS

HOU S E  I S  I N  D I S R E P A I R  



414  BROAD  STREET  

CURRENT HOUSE PHOTOS

HOU S E  I S  I N  D I S R E P A I R  



 

 

 

July 2, 2020 

Sandy and Michael Kent 

sandy@boardwalkdistribution.com 

MikeKent0001@gmail.com 

 

 

Re: 414 Broad Street, Nevada City, CA 

 

Sandy and Michael: 

We have been asked to review the structural condition of the house at 414 Brad Street in Nevada City.  

On July 1, 2020 we made a site visit and observed the exterior, the interior and the basement of the 

house.  The basement is a brick vault that is smaller than the footprint of the house. 

There was no perimeter concrete foundation, the house was sitting directly on the ground.  The 

perimeter walls were “single wall” construction so there is no lateral (seismic and wind resisting) system 

per the current Building Code.  The few remaining floor elements are inadequate, and the roof structure 

has started to fail.  The brick basement structure below the floor could possible be salvaged if the new 

building could be designed to span over the existing basement. 

It is our opinion that the building is so damaged from the elements and time that it is unusable and 

cannot reasonably be repaired or restored.  

Please let us know if you have any further questions. 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

 

John D. Payne 

DEL VALLE 
C O N S U L T I N G 

 

 

11768 Tammy Way . Grass Valley, CA  95949-6620 

(530) 272-2500     

www.DelValleConsulting.com 



414  BROAD  STREET  

CURRENT HOUSE PHOTOS

F OUNDA T I ON  PHO TO S  



$835 00

$1,760 00

$810 00

$290 00

$160 00

$810 00

Clean-up:
Wood:
Chips:

Approximate Start and Completion Dates:
$4,665 00

Down payment:  No down payment is requested.  

Acton Arboriculture, Inc.: Dated:            7-13-20 By:_______________________________

Responsible Party: Dated: By:_______________________________

This contract price is good for one year from the date signed by the business representative.
All work shall be done in accordance with the American National Standards Institute Z133.1 Safety Standard 
and the A300 Standard for Tree Care Operations.
See pages 2-4 of this contract for consumer notices required by the CSLB. 

Back

Location

Take down.

Take down.

Page 1

THE DOWNPAYMENT MAY NOT EXCEED $1,000 OR 10 PERCENT OF THE CONTRACT PRICE, 
WHICHEVER IS LESS.

You are entitled to a completely filled in copy of this agreement, signed by both you and the 
contractor, before any work may be started.

Contract PricePayment Terms: Contract price due in full upon completion.  

Sandy Kent

Subject
Tree of Heaven

Incense Cedar

stalks, and old frond stubs or remove tree.

Service Description

Nevada City, CA

Remove wood.

BackWindmill Palm

Privet and Ivy

CSLB# 894296

WORK CONTRACT

www.zenoacton.com

Take down.

Take down.

414 Broad Street

Client Name and Mailing Address: Job Location & Contacts:

P.O. Box 17
Grass Valley, CA 95945

918-340-4398
mikekent0001@gmail.com

Giant Sequoia

Front

Prune off fronds to 90 degrees, flower 

Amount

(530) 272-8224
actonarboriculture@gmail.com

Travel time one way is included.

Back Left

Back Left

Job Notes: Big tree work ahead signs and close sidewalk signs, knuckle boom, mini skid & trailer for wood removal.
Stumps: Cut as low as possible or leave at 3' to facilitate removal with an excavator.

Removal is optional on the incense cedar and included on the other trees.
Remove.

Included.



Work Proposal - Acton Arboriculture, Inc.

1. Note About Extra Work and Change Orders.  
Owner may request Extra Work or Change Orders that change 
the Contract Price or schedule.  Extra Work and Change 
Orders become part of the contract once the order is prepared 
in writing and signed by the Parties prior to commencement of 
any Work covered by the new Change Order. The order must 
describe the scope of the Extra Work or change, the cost to be 
added or subtracted from the contract, and the effect the order 
will have on the schedule of progress payments. 

Notice required by California Business and Professions Code § 
7159(e)(3):  Owner may not require a contractor to perform 
extra work or change order work without providing written 
authorization prior to the commencement of any work covered 
by the new change order. Extra work or a change order is not 
enforceable against Owner unless the change order also 
identifies all of the following in writing prior to the 
commencement of any work covered by the new change order:  
(1) The scope of work encompassed by the order, (2) The 
amount to be added or subtracted from the contract price, and 
(3) The effect the change order will have on progress 
payments or the completion date. 

Failure of Contractor to comply with the requirements of this 
paragraph does not preclude the recovery of compensation for 
work based upon legal or equitable remedies designed to 
prevent unjust enrichment. 

2. Information about the Contractors' State 
License Board (CSLB).  CSLB is the state 
consumer protection agency that licenses and 
regulates construction contractors.  Contact CSLB 
for information about the licensed contractor you are 
considering, including information about disclosable 
complaints, disciplinary actions and civil judgments 
that are reported to CSLB.  Use only licensed 
contractors. If you file a complaint against a licensed 
contractor within the legal deadline (usually four 
years), CSLB has authority to investigate the 
complaint. If you use an unlicensed contractor, 
CSLB may not be able to help you resolve your 
complaint. Your only remedy may be in civil court, 
and you may be liable for damages arising out of 
any injuries to the unlicensed contractor or the 
unlicensed contractor's employees. 

For more information: 
Visit CSLB's Web site at www.cslb.ca.gov 
Call CSLB at 800-321-CSLB (2752) 
Write CSLB at P.O. Box 26000, Sacramento, CA 
95826. 

3. Workers Compensation Insurance.  Contractor 
shall carry workers' compensation insurance and liability 
insurance as required by Law and regulation for the protection 
of Contractor and Owner during progress of the Work. 

4. Commercial General Liability Insurance.  Acton 
Arboriculture, Inc. carries commercial general liability insurance 
written by Greenwich Insurance Company. You may call 
Greenwich Insurance Company at 800-622-7311 to check the 
contractor’s insurance coverage. 

5. MECHANICS LIEN WARNING: Anyone who 
helps improve your property, but who is not paid, may 
record what is called a mechanics’ lien on your property. 
A mechanics’ lien is a claim, like a mortgage or home 
equity loan, made against your property and recorded 
with the county recorder.  

Even if you pay your contractor in full, unpaid 
subcontractors, suppliers, and laborers who helped to 
improve your property may record mechanics’ liens and 
sue you in court to foreclose the lien. If a court finds the 
lien is valid, you could be forced to pay twice or have a 
court officer sell your home to pay the lien. Liens can also 
affect your credit.  

To preserve their right to record a lien, each 
subcontractor and material supplier must provide you 
with a document called a ‘20-day Preliminary Notice.’ 
This notice is not a lien. The purpose of the notice is to 
let you know that the person who sends you the notice 
has the right to record a lien on your property if he or she 
is not paid.  

BE CAREFUL. The Preliminary Notice can be sent up to 
20 days after the subcontractor starts work or the 
supplier provides material. This can be a big problem if 
you pay your contractor before you have received the 
Preliminary Notices. You will not get Preliminary Notices 
from your prime contractor or from laborers who work on 
your project. The law assumes that you already know 
they are improving your property.  

PROTECT YOURSELF FROM LIENS. You can protect 
yourself from liens by getting a list from your contractor of 
all the subcontractors and material suppliers that work on 
your project. Find out from your contractor when these 
subcontractors started work and when these suppliers 
delivered goods 
or materials. Then wait 20 days, paying attention to the 
Preliminary Notices you receive.  

PAY WITH JOINT CHECKS. One way to protect yourself 
is to pay with a joint check. When your contractor tells 
you it is time to pay for the work of a subcontractor or 
supplier who has provided you with a Preliminary Notice, 
write a joint check payable to both the contractor and the 
subcontractor or material supplier.  

For other ways to prevent liens, visit CSLB’s website at 
www.cslb.ca.gov or call CSLB at 1-800-321-CSLB 
(2752).  

P.O. Box 17 Grass Valley, CA 95945 I 530.272.8224 I sales@zenoacton.com I www.zenoacton.com



Work Proposal - Acton Arboriculture, Inc.

6. “THREE-DAY” RIGHT TO CANCEL.  You, the 
buyer, have the right to cancel this contract within three 
business days.  You may cancel by e-mailing, mailing, 
faxing, or delivering a written notice to the contractor at the 
contractor’s place of business by midnight of the third 
business day after you received a signed and dated copy 
of the contract that includes this notice. Include your 
name, your address, and the date you received the signed 
copy of the contract and this notice.  

If you cancel, the contractor must return to you anything 
you paid within 10 days of receiving the notice of 
cancellation. For your part, you must make available to the 
contractor at your residence, in substantially as good 
condition as you received it, any goods delivered to you 
under this contract or sale. Or, you may, if you wish, 
comply with the contractor’s instructions on how to return 
the goods at the contractor’s expense and risk.  

If you do make the goods available to the contractor and 
the contractor does not pick them up within 20 days of the 
date of your notice of cancellation, you may keep them 
without any further obligation. If you fail to make the goods 
available to the contractor, or if you agree to return the 
goods to the contractor and fail to do so, then you remain 
liable for performance of all obligations under the contract.  

7. Site Access and Permits.  Owner is responsible for 
providing Acton Arboriculture, Inc. with access to all necessary 
work areas.  Owner is responsible for acquiring all necessary 
permits and approvals required to perform the work. 

8. Payment.  The Contract Price is due upon completion 
of work.  Cash or check only. All other payment terms are 
governed by California Civil Code § 8800 et. seq., including 
interest on late payments (2% per month) and the award of 
attorneys and costs for any acts arising out of this Agreement. 

9. Dispute Resolution.  In the event of dispute arising 
from this Agreement, the parties shall first attempt to mediate 
the dispute prior to the commencement of any litigation or 
arbitration.  The parties need not mediate if the amount in 
controversy falls within the jurisdictional amounts of the small 
claims court.  All disputes are governed by California law and 
the exclusive venue for any dispute shall be in the County of 
Nevada, State of California.  The prevailing party in any dispute 
arising out of this Agreement shall be awarded their attorney’s 
fees and costs. 

10. No Warranty, Express or Implied.  While Acton 
Arboriculture, Inc. aims to provide services to improve the 
health, structure, and survivability of trees; the health and 
structure of any tree cannot be guaranteed.  Therefore, no 
warranty, express or implied, is created with respect to work 
performed by Acton Arboriculture, Inc. 

11. THE OWNER OR TENANT HAS THE RIGHT TO 
REQUIRE THE ACTON ARBORICULTURE TO HAVE A 
PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BOND. 

 

Checklist for Homeowners 

 [ ]  Did you contact the Contractors State License Board (CSLB) 
to check the status of the contractor's license? 

Contact the CSLB at 1-800-321-CSLB (2752) or visit 
our web site: www.cslb.ca.gov 

[ ]  Did you get at least 3 local references from the contractors 
you are considering? 

Did you call them? 

[ ]  Building Permits - will the contractor get a permit before the 
work starts? 

Check Out the Contract 

[ ]  Did you read and do you understand your contract? 

[ ]  Does the 3-day right to cancel a contract apply to you? 

Contact the CSLB if you don't know. 

[ ]  Does the contract tell you when work will start and end? 

[ ]  Does the contract include a detailed description of the work 
to be done, the material to be used, and equipment to be 
installed?  

This description should include brand names, model 
numbers, quantities and colors. Specific descriptions 
now will prevent disputes later. 

[ ]  Are you required to pay a down payment? 

If you are, the down payment should never be more 
than 10 percent of the contract price or $1,000, 
whichever is less. 

[ ]  Is there a schedule of payments? 

If there is a schedule of payments, you should pay 
only as work is completed and not before. There are 
some exceptions -- contact the CSLB to find out what 
they are. 

[ ]  Did your contractor give you a "Notice to Owner", a warning 
notice describing liens and ways to prevent them? 

Even if you pay your contractor, a lien can be placed 
on your home by unpaid laborers, subcontractors or 
material suppliers. A lien can result in you paying twice 
or, in some cases, losing your home in a foreclosure. 
Check the "Notice to Owner" for ways to protect 
yourself. 

[ ]  Did you know changes or additions to your contract must be
in writing? 

Putting changes in writing reduces the possibility of a 
later dispute. 

 

Signed:_____________________________________________ 

 

Printed:_____________________________________________ 

 

Date:_______________________________________________ 

P.O. Box 17 Grass Valley, CA 95945 I 530.272.8224 I sales@zenoacton.com I www.zenoacton.com



Work Proposal - Acton Arboriculture, Inc.

Notice of Cancellation  

(California Business & Professions Code § 7159) 

 

Date the contract was signed: (Date) ____/____/____ 

 
You may cancel this transaction, without any penalty or obligation, within three business days from the above date. If 
you cancel, any property traded in, any payments made by you under the contract or sale, and any negotiable 
instrument executed by you will be returned within 10 days following receipt by the seller of your cancellation notice, 
and any security interest arising out of the transaction will be canceled. If you cancel, you must make available to the 
seller at your residence, in substantially as good condition as when received, any goods delivered to you under this 
contract or sale, or you may, if you wish, comply with the instructions of the seller regarding the return shipment of 
the goods at the seller’s expense and risk. If you do make the goods available to the seller and the seller does not 
pick them up within 20 days of the date of your notice of cancellation, you may retain or dispose of the goods without 
any further obligation. If you fail to make the goods available to the seller, or if you agree to return the goods to the 
seller and fail to do so, then you remain liable for performance of all obligations under the contract.” 

 
To cancel this transaction, mail or deliver a signed and dated copy of this cancellation notice, or any other written 
notice, or send a telegram to: 

 

Address: Acton Arboriculture, Inc. 

 PO Box 17 

Grass Valley, CA 95945 

 Phone:  (530) 272-8224 

 E-mail:  info@zenoacton.com 

 CA License: 894296 

Any cancellation must occur no later than midnight on the third day following execution of the above Agreement.
 

I hereby cancel this transaction: 
Date of cancellation (Date) ____/____/____ 

 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Signature of Owner  

REQUIRED ONLY IF OWNER ELECTS TO CANCEL THE AGREEMENT 

 

 

P.O. Box 17 Grass Valley, CA 95945 I 530.272.8224 I sales@zenoacton.com I www.zenoacton.com



414  BROAD  STREET  

CURRENT HOUSE PHOTOS

T R E E S  T O  B E  R EMOV ED  



414  BROAD  STREET  

CURRENT HOUSE PHOTOS

T R E E S  T O  B E  R EMOV ED



SIMILIAR HOMES 
C O L O R  P A L L E T T  |  E N T R A N C E S  

1 2 3

TWO ENTRANCES ON FRONT PORCH 

Similar style Porch being proposed as
well as two entrances on front porch 

TWO ENTRANCES ON FRONT PORCH

Similar style Porch being proposed as
well as two entrances on front porch

TWO ENTRANCES ON FRONT PORCH

Similar style Porch being proposed as
well as two entrances on front porch



SIMILIAR HOMES 
B A L C O N Y  |  E N T R A N C E S  

1 2 3

SECOND STORY WITH BALCONY

Similar style second story front balcony
being proposed . Very good example of
what the porch and balcony will look
like 

SECOND STORY WITH BALCONY

Similar style second story front balcony
being proposed

SECOND STORY WITH BALCONY

Similar style second story front balcony
being proposed



SIMILIAR HOMES 
B A L C O N Y  |  E N T R A N C E S  

1 2 3

SECOND STORY WITH BALCONY

Similar style second story front balcony
being proposed

SECOND STORY WITH BALCONY

Similar style second story front balcony
being proposed

SECOND STORY WITH BALCONY

Similar style second story front balcony
being proposed



P R O J E C T :  4 1 4  B R O A D  S T R E E T ,  N E V A D A  C I T Y



A. Residential Projects within Historical District

City zoning regulations require a permit for construction or alteration of the exterior appearance 
of any building, including residences, within the Historical District (or contiguous to the streets 
and alleys of the Historical District, even when across the street), be processed with submittal of 
an Architectural Review application to be considered and acted upon by the Advisory Review 
Committee and/or the Planning Commission to assure that the proposed work will be in strict 
keeping with the Mother Lode era. The ‘Mother Lode’ type of architecture within the Historical 
District that gives Nevada City its unique character is defined as ‘…that type of architecture 
generally used in the Mother Lode region of the state of California during the period from 1849 
and 1900 and which are exemplified in Nevada City [by the buildings depicted on pages 17, 18 
and 19 of these guidelines.’ The goal of architectural review for the permit is to preserve the 
character of Nevada City architecture in terms of historical value, site coverage and planning, 
volume and massing, general design and materials.  These Guidelines include many historic and 
current photos illustrating the Mother Lode type of architecture Nevada City wants to preserve 
and protect.  The City Planner can also assist in providing guidance and oversight of the permit 
application. 

Materials – General Guidelines 
The historic exterior features of a building should be retained and preserved.  Distinctive 
materials, components, finishes, and examples of craftsmanship should be retained and 
preserved.  Owners are encouraged to reproduce missing historic elements that were original to 
the building, but have been removed.  Physical or photographic evidence should be used to 
substantiate the reproduction of missing features. 

Deteriorated or damaged historic features and elements shall be repaired rather than replaced, 
wherever possible.  Where the severity of deterioration or existence of structural or material 
defects requires replacement, the feature or element should match the original in composition, 
design, color, dimension, texture, material, and finish, and other visual qualities 

Each site should be recognized as a physical record of its time, place and use.  Owners are 
discouraged from introducing architectural elements or details that visually modify or alter the 
original building design when no evidence of such elements or details exists.   

New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not destroy historic 
materials or features that characterize the site or building. 

Applicants are encouraged to submit samples of building materials (windows, siding, roofing, 
etc. when possible) for the Planning Commission’s review. 

State Historical Building Code 
The State Historical Building Code, established in 1975, and part of the California Building 
Code helps to “facilitate the preservation and continuing use of qualified historical buildings or 
properties while providing reasonable safety for the building occupants and access for persons 
with disabilities.”  Nevada City’s Historical District, being listed on a qualified National 
Register of Historic Places, qualifies for recommendation to utilize such Code.   

22 

Table of Contents Link



The Planning Commission, when reviewing projects within the Historical District, can 
recommend to the Nevada County Building Official that certain architectural features that do not 
meet current building code be permitted under the Historical Building Code.  For example, 
railing heights are currently 42” but were 36” or lower in the past.  The Commission’s 
recommendation to retain that historic railing height can be reviewed by the Building Official for 
compliance with safety issues.  Another example of using the Historical Building Code involves 
retention of window design and dimensions on older buildings 

Features typical of Mother Lode era architecture such as: 

• Roof Pitches.  Main roofs steeply peaked (6:12 to 12:12 pitch) with overhangs and
gable ends are typical. Hipped roofs in the appropriate architectural context are
allowed. (Victorian homes were often very vertical in appearance and the
relationship of the size of the house to the roof should be considered).

6:12       8:12  8:12 with gabled dormer 

• Siding for Existing Home and other Structures.  Painted wood horizontal siding,
board and batten are encouraged. Cement fiber board, vinyl siding, and other
synthetic siding (such as T-111 siding) is discouraged in older neighborhoods
particularly when the neighborhood is in close proximity to pre-1942 homes or if
the home itself is pre-1942 or exhibits a style which is not complemented by these
types of siding.

• Materials, New Homes.  Materials on new homes and other structures will be
reviewed against the context of the neighborhood.  If modern materials are used,
they should match historic materials in appearance.

• Materials, Older Homes.   Alterations to older homes should match existing, historic
materials. Synthetic materials with no historic basis are discouraged on both
existing older home additions and renovations.

Broad Street 
Home restored 
in 2011/12 

23 

Table of Contents Link



• Trim, railings, and details should have a historic basis and fit the style of the
existing home or new structure.

• Roofing material.  Asphalt shingles and metal roofing in muted non-glare colors
such as tans, blacks, browns, and greens have historically been approved on new
homes and additions.  The use of corrugated metal has also been approved.

• Solar Panels/Skylights.  New roof features should be visually minimized when
viewed from the primary public right-of-way

• Exterior Colors.    Historical colors are encouraged for commercial and residential
buildings in the Historical District.  Samples of such colors are available at City
Hall.  City staff can approve like-for-like color repainting; however changes in
colors require Commission approval.

• Covered porches and entries.  Such entries and porches usually have lower roof
pitches than the main roof. 

Covered Porch, Sacramento Street 

24 
Table of Contents Link



• Windows.  Typical windows include multi-pane, vertical, and bay windows.   Wood
windows and true divided lights are generally required of additions, renovations and
newly constructed homes in older neighborhoods though existing window types may
be duplicated.

Bay Window, Broad Street 

Multi-paned windows, Broad Street 

25 

Table of Contents Link



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wood Clad Window  Vinyl Clad Window 

Discussion on Wood Windows 
The Design Guidelines have, in the past, preferred the use of historically correct wood 
windows. The design of windows is continuously evolving as they become more efficient and 
maintenance free.  Wood windows require maintenance throughout their life time, mainly 
painting. Because of these maintenance issues, the wood window is not as popular as the 
same window with “cladding” on the wood exposed to the weather. The cladding replaces the 
layers of paint on the wood window. The cladding can be several materials with aluminum and 
vinyl being the most popular. The cladding protects the wood and usually never needs painting. 
This is good for the homeowner and the environment. 

There are two important points to be made. First, this discussion is not relative to a vinyl or 
aluminum window but is for discussion of a clad wood window. It is difficult to make a solid vinyl 
or aluminum window match the proportions of the true wood window. Secondly, referring to the 
two images below of an actual wood window and the same window with white colored cladding, 
it is easy to see that the proportions and dimensions as basically identical. 

There also are windows made from fiberglass for strength and low maintenance. The Planning 
Commission will consider the fact that if the windows have the same proportions of a wood 
window, they can possibly be considered as meeting the Cityʼs requirements. 

26 

Table of Contents Link



NEVADA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 
STAFF REPORT 

APPLICANT: Rachel Budde HEARING DATE:  August 20, 2020 

OWNER: Applicant is in escrow to purchase  File Type:  Use Permit  
______________________________________________________________________________ 
PROJECT: Use Permit for continued use of the existing patio for outdoor dining at 426 Broad Street 

LOCATION: 426  Broad Street, Nevada City, CA 

ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NO.: 005-120-052

STAFF CONTACT:   Amy Wolfson, City Planner  

Lot Size: 0.12acres Lot Coverage: 100% 
Zoning: GB-HD: General Business-Historical District Building Height: 40-feet 
Setbacks: None Historical District: Within 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1) Application for Conditional Use Permit
2) Patio Site Plan
3) Applicant-provided description
4) Photos of Existing Patio

______________________________________________________________________________ 
RECOMMENDATION: 

1. Environmental Action: Find Exempt  pursuant to CEQA Guidelines  15301(e)
2. Project Action: Conditional Approval of the Use Permit

BACKGROUND: At the meeting on July 16, 2020 
the planning commission approved the applicant’s 
architectural review application related to a new 
paint scheme, window and door replacements, and 
a new entry arbor.  At a special meeting held on 
July 24, 2020 the planning commission made a 
zoning determination, with special findings, that 
use of the existing building at 426 Broad Street is 
appropriate as a wellness spa as proposed by the 
applicant. The commission also conditionally 
approved a fence replacement. A Conditional Use 
Permit is needed for the proposed use of the 
outdoor patio because while the proposed use is 
similar to the existing restaurant use, that outdoor 
restaurant use operated as a legal non-conforming 
use without ever having been issued a conditional 
use permit for that space. 

The National Register inventory does not include a 
description for this property. The 1898 Sanborn map 
identifies the building use as a dwelling.  

1898 Sanborn Map Excerpt 



PC Staff Report, 8/20/2020 
426 Broad Use Permit  Page 2 of 3 
 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Prospective property owner Rachel Budde is proposing to utilize the existing 
outdoor patio area at 426 Broad Street for a dining and seating area as an ancillary use of the approved spa 
business.  The property is within a base zoning district of General Business (GB) which allows for outdoor 
restaurant use with approval of a Conditional Use Permit. Budde plans to retain the existing outdoor tables and 
chairs utilized by the prior restaurant. Acoustical music may be present during business hours of 9AM to 6PM. 
Staff has included a condition of approval indicating that noise is required to comply with the City’s Noise 
Ordinance outlined in Chapter 8.20 of the City Municipal Code.  
 
REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS: 
Use Permit Regulations: In considering an application for a conditional use, the commission shall give due 
regard to the nature and condition of all adjacent uses and structures. In authorizing a conditional use, the 
commission may impose such requirements and conditions with respect to location, construction, 
maintenance, and operation, in addition to those expressly stipulated in the Municipal Code for the particular 
use, as they may deem necessary for the protection of adjacent properties and the public interest.  
 
Zoning And General Plan Consistency:  The General Commercial (GC) General Plan designation and 
General Business (GB) base zoning district in which the project is located is intended to provide a location for 
the sale of commodities, performance of services, repair facilities, tourist oriented sales, and other types of 
general enterprise. The GB zone can also accommodate mixed use residential uses. The inclusion of mixed use 
residential land uses in commercial areas is encouraged to increase the area's population and pedestrian 
activity while reducing air pollution, energy consumption and transportation costs. Outdoor dining  is 
considered compatible with the “GB” designation provided that it complies with Conditions of Approval.  
                    
Environmental Review:  Staff is recommending that the project is exempt from environmental review 
pursuant to §15301(e) of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guidelines. The CEQA Guidelines 
for Categorical Exemption §15301, Existing Facilities  “consists of… minor alterations of existing public or 
private structures or facilities…involving no or negligible expansion of use.”  
 
Noticing: The Use Permit Amendment was distributed for agency comment on August 5, 2020. No adverse 
comments have been received and no added conditions are recommended. Notice of the public hearing was 
published in The Union on Saturday, August 8, 2020 and was distributed to property owners within 300-feet 
of the subject location on August 10 10, 2020. As of the writing of this staff report, no public comments have 
been received.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Planning Commission take the following actions: 
 
1) Determine this project categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to Section 15301(e) of 

the California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines, which exempts “minor alterations of existing public 
or private structures or facilities…involving no or negligible expansion of use.”. 

 
2) Approve the proposed Use Permit subject to the Conditions of Approval as conditioned below, or as may 

be modified at the public hearing, making findings, a-e, pursuant to Sections 17.88.20 of the Nevada City 
Municipal Code: 

a) That this project as conditioned is consistent with the General Commercial (GC) General Plan land 
use designation applicable to this project site; and 

b) The proposed use, as conditioned is consistent with the purposes of the General Business (GB) base 
zoning district which allows public and quasi-public uses with an approved use permit; and 

c) The proposed use as conditioned will not jeopardize, adversely affect, or be detrimental to public 
health, safety, and welfare or to the surrounding property and residents; and 

d) Adequate public facilities and public services exist within the project area and are available to serve 
the project without decreasing service levels to other area; and 



PC Staff Report, 8/20/2020 
426 Broad Use Permit  Page 3 of 3 
 

 

e) The conditions below are deemed necessary to protect the public health, safety, and general welfare.  

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1. The use permit is granted for use of the existing patio for use as outdoor dining as an ancillary use 
to the approved Kosmos Spa(ce) business.  

2. All noise associated with the outdoor dining area including any acoustical music, shall be 
consistent with the Nevada City Noise Ordinance, Chapter 8.20 of the Nevada City Municipal 
Code. All outdoor music shall be acoustical during business hours, and not to occur outside of 
daytime hours of 7am to 9pm.    

3. All installed outdoor lighting shall require architectural review and shall be in compliance with  
Section 17.80.215, including use of energy-efficient (high pressure sodium, low pressure sodium, 
hard-wired compact fluorescent, light emitting diodes (LED) or other lighting technology that is of 
equal or greater efficiency) fixture/lamps.  



CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

317 Broad Street 
Nevada City, CA  95959 

Phone (530) 265-2496  Fax (530) 265-0187 

APPLICATION PACKET FOR A USE PERMIT/DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 

This packet contains filing forms and instructions for submitting a complete application 
for a Use Permit or a commercial/industrial/multi-family Development Permit.  You must 
complete all forms and submit all required supplemental documents listed on the attached 
checklist or your application will not be accepted.  If you have questions regarding the 
need for zoning-specific information that may be required by the zoning applicable to 
your project, you should discuss your zoning with the City Planner prior to filing an 
application. 

Applications must be filed with the Planning Department at City Hall.  If all information 
is complete and no issues arise that require additional time for review, your project will 
be scheduled for public hearing and/or environmental review.  You will receive a Staff 
Report approximately 10 days prior to the hearing.  That Report will contain a Staff 
Recommendation for the project including a list of recommended conditions of approval.  
You or your authorized representative must attend the public hearing or no action 
will be taken.    Surrounding property owners will also be notified of the hearing.  
During the hearing, the Planning Commission will consider the staff recommendation, 
your comments and any input from the public.  The hearing body will either, 1) approve 
your project, 2) approve it with conditions, 3) deny it, or 4) continue it for additional 
information if necessary. 

SUBMITTING A COMPLETE AND ACCURATE APPLICATION AND SITE 
PLAN WILL HELP TO MAINTAIN YOUR DESIRED HEARING SCHEDULE. 

Fee Deposit: $__________



USE PERMIT/DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 
FILING INSTRUCTIONS & CHECKLIST 

This form must be filed with your application.  Please check off (√) each item to verify 
that the required information is attached. 

Your application will not be accepted if any required item is missing. 

(  )   1. The signed and completed Application form, including a letter of authorization    
from the property owner(s) if forms are signed by a Representative. 

(  )   2.  Filing fees pursuant to the most recently adopted Resolution of the City Council. 

(  )   3.  The completed Land Use Application and Project Information form. 

(  )   4.  If grading is anticipated, submit a profile showing the cut and fill and the height 
of any needed retaining walls. 

(  )   5.  Photos of the site and a site plan reduction indicating where photos were taken. 

(  )   6. 3 hard-copies and 1 digital copy of building elevations and floor plans including 
square footage calculations.  Plans must be drawn to a recognizable scale, 
preferably to an engineer’s scale.  

(  )   7. 3 hard-copies and 1 digital copy of any comprehensive sign plan that includes the 
location, type, size and design of all proposed signs, including a color scheme. 

(  )   8.  3 hard-copies and 1 digital copy of a Lighting Plan that depicts the location, 
height and positioning of All light fixtures and provides a description of the type 
and style of lighting proposed, including pole or building mounted area lights and 
sign lights. 

(  )  9. 3 hard-copies and 1 digital copy of a site plan drawn per attached instructions.  All 
plans must be folded to a maximum 8 ½” x 11” size.  

 

(  )  10.  Please submit a separate page describing the project in detail.  Include discussion 
of such items as scope of work, operations of any business, including hours of 
operation, number of employees, etc 



11/08  Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 1 
7 of 20 

LAND USE APPLICATION 

Please print or type in black ink 
Type of application(s) for which you are applying: 

Tentative Map ___ Ordinance Amendment ___ Certificate of Compliance 
___ Use Permit ___ Zone Change  ___ Voluntary Merger 
___ Development Permit ___ General Plan Amendment ___ Home Business 
___ Administrative Dev. Permit ___ Variance ___ Temporary Commercial Permit 

 Boundary Line Adjustment ___ Setback Easement   Management Plan 
___ Other (specify): 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  

Assessor's Parcel No(s):  

Applicant Name(s):  

Applicant Mailing Address:  

Telephone #: (   )  E-Mail: FAX#: 

Property Owners Full Names: 

Property Owner Mailing Address: 

Telephone #: (   ) E-Mail: FAX#: 

Name of Representative (if applicable): 
Address of Representative:  

Telephone #: (   ) E-Mail: FAX#: 

Site address(es): Acreage(s): 
Water Source:     Method of Sewage Disposal:   

********************************************************************************* 

I hereby acknowledge that I have read the instructions for filing this application and state under 
penalty of perjury that the information provided on all attached documents is correct. 

Signature of  (  ) Property Owner(s)  or  (  ) Authorized Representative* 

Date: 
Date: 

*Representative may sign application if a Letter of Authorization from the owner(s) is provided.

I propose to use the outside space at 426 Broad St. as a seating 
and dining area for the patrons of my business, Kosmos Spa(ce). The outside space may 
also host outdoor workshops from time to time.

Rachel Budde

220 Nevada St Nevada City CA 95959

646 338 2228 fatandthemoon@gmail.com

Rachel Budde

220 Nevada St Nevada City CA 95959

646 338 2228 fatandthemoon@gmail.com

426 Broad St. Nevada City 95959
city city

less than 1

8/2/2020



12/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form# 5 
Page 9 of 20 

CITY OF NEVADA 
PROJECT INFORMATION QUESTIONNAIRE 

The information provided in this questionnaire will be used for preparation of the project Initial 
Study (environmental review) and for overall project review.  All questions must be answered 
completely with legible responses, typed or in black ink, providing more than a simple “yes”, “no” 
or “NA” response. Attach separate written discussion pages where needed to provide a complete 
response. 

1. Project Description:
a. Describe the proposed project including any proposed phasing:

b. Are any exceptions to required standards proposed or required for this project (a
Variance, a Petition for Exceptions or a Management Plan to encroach into any
sensitive resources)?   If yes, identify the nature of the proposed variance, exception or
management plan:

c. Code Violations:  To your knowledge, are there any Code violations occurring on this
property, including the issuance of a Warning Notice or a Citation for the subject
property?   ___ yes    ___ no    If yes, describe:

2. Land Use:
a. Does this project have a relationship to a larger project or a series of projects?

____ yes   ____ no     If yes, describe:

b. Describe existing on-site land uses:

c. Describe surrounding land uses, indicating distance to nearest residence:

d. Describe project potential to change the character of the surrounding area, including the
loss of open space.

The proposed use of the outdoor space at 426 will be for seating and dining of

patrons of Kosmos Spa(ce) LLC. 

No

The current use is exactly the same as what is being proposed: seating and dining for patrons

Yards and foot traffic describe the use of the surrounding land around the location.

No potential change



7/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 3 
Page 10 of 20 

e. Will this project displace any residential units?  ____ yes   ____ no     If yes, describe:

f. Will this project result in a population increase in the immediate project area?
____ yes   ____ no     Explain:

g. List any specialized plans or zoning restrictions applicable to this project site, e.g., an
“SP” zoning, a Master Plan, a Specific Plan, an Area Plan, an Airport Land Use Plan?

3. Geology/Soils:
a. A Preliminary Grading Plan is attached. ____  yes ____  no 
b. A Soils/Geologic Report is attached. ____  yes ____  no 
c. Slopes that exist on site prior to grading:

Gentle (0-10%)   sq. ft/acres  % of site 
Rolling (10-30%)   sq. ft/acres  % of site 
Steep (more than 30%)   sq. ft/acres  % of site 
___  30%>  slopes are cross-hatched or highlighted on the site plan or tentative map 

d. Does the project propose to encroach into slopes of 30% or greater?
If yes, is a Management Plan included in this application?  ____ yes __ __ no

e. Is the site on filled land? ____  yes ____  no     If yes, explain:

f. Are there existing erosion problems or geologic hazards occurring on this site, such as
landslides, mudslides, ground failures, earthquake faults or similar hazards?  If yes,
describe:

g. Will a grading permit be required? ____ yes ____ no
If yes, have you attached a preliminary grading plan? ____ yes ____ no 

Describe proposed site grading: 

How many cubic yards of soil will be imported, exported or moved on site? 

Maximum proposed depth and slope of any excavation and the type:  

Grading material sources or disposal sites: 

Transport methods and haul routes: 

The location and height of any proposed or required retaining walls:  
_____________________________________________________________________ 

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a



7/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 3 
Page 11 of 20 

4. Water Quality:
a. Describe any water bodies on, or adjacent to, the property, including lakes, rivers,

creeks, seasonal and/or perennial water courses, irrigation ditches or drainage swales.

b. Is there a floodplain on or within 100 feet of this project site?  If yes, is it identified on the
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) maps and have you included a copy of
that map with this application?    ____  yes  ____  no

c. For development projects, describe impervious surfacing created by this project:

Lot Coverage: EXISTING PROPOSED
building coverage  %  % 
surfaced areas  %  % 
landscaped areas  %  % 
permanent open space  %  % 
(excluding required landscaping) 
Total 100  % 100 % 

d. Describe any discharge to surface waters that will result from this project, including any
wastewaters other than storm water runoff that may be present in the discharge:

e. Identify the water body or feature that receives runoff waters, describing proposed
methods for treating and controlling runoff before it enters the drainage or watercourse.

f. Will a permit be required from the California Regional Water Quality Control Board?
_____  yes   ____no     If application for a State permit has been made, provide the
permit #: ____________.

g. Are there any wetlands or riparian areas on this site?   yes   no

If yes, describe:

Will wetlands be affected by the proposed project?   yes   no

Will an Army Corps of Engineers wetlands permit be required? ___ yes   _____ no
If yes, is correspondence to or from the Army Corps attached? ____ yes   _____ no

h. Does this project propose to encroach into the required buffer from any perennial or
seasonal waterbodies or riparian area?  ___ yes  ___no

If yes, is a Management Plan included in this application?  ____ yes ___ no

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a



7/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 3 
Page 12 of 20 

5. Air Quality:
a. Describe any air pollutants, i.e. dust, smoke, fumes or odors, which may be generated by

this project both during and after construction (short and long term impacts).
_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

b. Is the project site mapped within an area known to contain naturally occurring asbestos?
___ yes    ___ no      Source of information: _________________________

6. Transportation/Circulation:
a. A traffic study is included with this application. ___ yes   ___  no

b. Does this project require/include a Petition for Exceptions?   ___ yes  ___ no

c. Describe the access roads serving this project:

Road name  Right of Way width Surfacing Finish grade 

d. Is the access road serving the site a dead-end road?  ___ yes   ___no    If yes, what is the
distance to the nearest through road?
_____________________________________________________________________

e. Who provides the road maintenance for each road accessing your project?
_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

f. Will this project result in substantial or cumulative impacts to the circulation system in
this area?   ___ yes   ___  no     Explain:

g. What road improvements are proposed?

h. Describe how this project provides for pedestrian needs, pursuant to Sec. L-II 4.1.8 of
Zoning Regulations and the Nevada County Non-Motorized Pedestrian Plan:

i. Describe how this project will provide transportation alternatives pursuant to Sec. L-II
4.1.9 and General Plan Policy RD-4.3.1, including:

1) The estimated number of employees or residents that will work/live on the project
site.

There will be indoor construction on the building on the property with some dust 

and some outdoor concrete work and fence building. The impacts will be short term. 

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

8-10 employees



7/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 3 
Page 13 of 20 

2) Identify existing and potential alternatives to individual automobile use, including
but not limited to, access to public transportation services, bicycle racks, or
provisions for developer-sponsored carpooling or bussing.

3) Proposals to incorporate one or more measures into the project to ensure use of
viable alternatives.

4) For projects employing 50 or more persons: describe feasible measures for reducing
auto dependence.

7. Biological Resources:
a. Is the required Biological Inventory attached? ____  yes ____  no 
c. Is a Management Plan for encroachment into sensitive biological resources required?

____ yes  ____ no __  If yes, is it included in the Inventory? ___yes     ___no

c. How many native oaks exist on the project site? _______________________

d. How many oaks have trunk diameters of 36" or more, measured at breast height (4’)?

e. Number, size, type and location of trees that will require removal, including those for
road and sewage disposal construction (as shown on site plan):

f. Is a Tree Protection Plan for trees to be retained attached or addressed in your Biological
Inventory?  ____  yes ____  no

g. Does this project have the potential to preclude the future use of any natural resource
i.e., forests or water?   ____  yes ____  no    If yes, explain:

h. Has this site been logged site in the last 10 years? ____ yes   ____ no

If yes, was a Timber Harvest Plan approved?    ____ yes   ____ no

Is there an active Timber Harvest Plan on file?  ____ yes   ____ no

___   If yes to either, a copy of the approved and/or proposed Plan(s) is attached.

8. Mineral Resources:
a. Is this site mapped as an MRZ-2, Significant Mineralized Area, by the State Dept. of

Conservation?    ____yes    ____no

we will have bicycle racks

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a



7/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 3 
Page 14 of 20 

b. Does this project have the potential to deplete any non-renewable minerals?
____  yes   ____  no   If yes, explain:

9. Risk of Upset/Health Hazards

a. Have you included the required Nevada County Hazardous Materials/Waste Statement
with this application?  ____ yes  ____ no

b. Do you have knowledge, or is there evidence, of any past, potentially hazardous materials use,
including underground fuel storage tanks, dumpsites, or surface or subsurface mining activity?
____ yes  ____ no

If yes, a Phase I Assessment must be submitted with this application.  Contact the
County Department of Environmental Health for information regarding what research
must be conducted for the specified past use.

c. Does this project propose the handling, storage or transportation of any potentially
hazardous materials, toxic substances, flammables or explosives?  ____  yes  ____  no

If yes, briefly describe the potentially hazardous materials:

d. Will the proposed project include the use of hazardous materials in quantities greater
than 55 gallons, 200 cubic feet or 500 pounds?  ____ yes     ____ no

If yes, have you attached a Hazardous Materials Inventory Statement with this
application?    ____yes       ____ no

e. Does this project propose, or will this project result in, the generation of hazardous waste
as defined by the California Health & Safety Code, Chapter 6.5?
____yes       ____ no

f. Does this project propose fuel tanks, either above or below ground?  If yes, in what
quantities?

g. Is this project site within two air miles of an airport? ____  yes ____  no

If yes, is the project site mapped with the boundaries of an airport Comprehensive Land
Use Plan (CLUP)?   ____  yes ___  no

10. Noise:
a. Is a Noise Study attached? ____  yes ____  no 

b. Describe any noise-sensitive land uses (homes, schools, hospitals, churches, libraries,
nursing homes) within a half-mile of the project site.
There are nearby homes, churches and libraries.



7/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 3 
Page 15 of 20 

c. Describe any noise that will be generated by this project both during and after
construction; identifying the noise source and the hours of operation for the noise
generating use, including any outdoor activity areas, i.e., storage yards, outdoor music,
playgrounds, animals pens.

11. Public Services:
a. List agencies providing the following public services to your project site:

Fire Protection:

Domestic water:

Sewage disposal:

Road maintenance:

Other special districts:

b. If public sewer is proposed, how many EDUs are allocated to this site?
c. How many EDU’s are required for the proposed use?
d. Is trash and recycling service available to serve the project site?  ____ yes   ____ no
e. As a result of this project will there be significant amounts of solid waste generated,

including stumps or inert matter?  ____ yes  ____ no     If yes, describe how the solid
waste will be handled/removed:
_____________________________________________________________________

f. Within what Fire Severity zone is the project site mapped (Moderate, High or Very
High) on the CalFire Fire Severity Hazard maps?

g. Will this project result in the need for additional public services including fire, police,
water, sewage disposal or recreation, including annexation to a special district?
___     yes   ____ no    If yes, describe:

12. Utilities & Services Systems:
a. List the public utilities that are available to serve the project site and the entities that

provides service:
Telephone:  

Electricity:  

Gas (propane or natural gas)   
High speed internet service:   

b. Will this project require the extension of service for any energy source?
____ yes   ____ no    If yes, describe:

The noise level generated will be by people dining and in conversation during business hours

n/a

n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a

moderate

xfinity

n/a
n/a

n/a



7/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 3 
Page 16 of 20 

c. Will this project require the recording of a new utility easement?
____ yes  ____ no    If yes, the proposed easement must be shown on the site plan.

d. Describe how this project maximizes energy efficiency, i.e., utilizes alternative energy
sources, pursuant to General Plan policies EC-8.6.1, EC-8.6.4 & 14.2:

e. What type of sewage disposal system is proposed for this project (public sewer,
individual septic systems, community system, centralized system)?

13. Aesthetics:
a. Will there be a change to any highly visible ridgelines or any scenic viewsheds?

____  yes   ____  no

If yes, is a Management Plan included in this application?  ____ yes   ____ no

b. Is this project visible from a scenic highway, a large population center, or a public
recreation area?  ____  yes   ____  no If yes, describe:

c. Does this project propose any outdoor storage, activity or use (other than parking)?
____ yes     ____ no       If yes, describe the use:

d. Does this project propose new fencing?  ____ yes    ____ no    If yes, describe fence
type, height, materials and colors:

e. Will this project require the installation of new overhead utility lines, visible from public
roadways or adjacent properties?   ___ yes     ____ no       If yes, describe:

f. Is any new exterior lighting proposed?   ___ yes     ___ no
If yes:
Is the location of all exterior lighting shown on the site plan?  ___ yes      ___ no

Is a comprehensive Lighting Plan included in this application, which describes existing
and proposed lighting, the number and type of light fixtures, i.e., compact-fluorescent,
metal-halide, incandescent; the location (wall-mounted, pole); and type of shielding to
prevent off-site light spill?  ___ yes   ___ no

n/a

It is within view of the downtown foot traffic on Broad St.

There is a pre-existing small storage shed for garden tools which will stay. The  

'activity' on site will be dining and seating and occasional workshops.

The planning commission approved new fencing. The design is still to be determined



7/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 3 
Page 17 of 20 

14. Agriculture:
a. Is this project site mapped on the State Dept. of Conservation Important Farmlands Map,

as Prime, Unique or a Farmland of Statewide or Local Importance?
____ yes    ____ no     If yes, is a Management Plan for encroachment into important
agricultural lands included with this project?  ____  yes  ____  no

b. Is this project site, or an adjacent site, contracted for an Agricultural Preserve
(Williamson Act), ____ yes   ____ no

c. Is there a Conservation Easement recorded for the project site, or an adjacent site?
____ yes   ____ no

d. Is there an agricultural use established on or adjacent to this parcel?
____ yes   ____ no   If yes, describe the use:

e. Is the project site irrigated?  ____  yes  ____  no ____
If yes, what is the water source (well, treated, raw water, or?):
 ___________________________________________________________________ 

f. Has the site ever been evaluated under the LESA (Land Evaluation & Site Assessment)
system?     ____  yes  ____  no ____
___ If yes, a copy of the evaluation is attached.

g. Will this project prohibit or decrease agricultural production, on or off-site?
____  yes   ____  no   If yes, describe:
_____________________________________________________________________

15. Cultural Resources:
a. ____ A letter from the North Central Information Center is attached, recommending

whether an on-site Cultural Resources Inventory be conducted. 

b. An Inventory was conducted and is attached.

c. An Inventory is not attached because:
 The North Central Information Center determined that an inventory is not 
required due to project size or sensitivity level (see letter). 

 An on-site inventory was conducted for a previous project and is on file 
with the Planning Department, County File No#: ____________. 

16. Recreation:
a. Describe any public recreational facilities existing or proposed on the project site,

including trails.  Describe any known historic, public use of this site.

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a



7/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 3 
Page 18 of 20 

Development project information (not applicable to Tentative Maps) 

17. Proposed use:
a. Proposed use/occupancy type:
b. Building type & hazard classification:
c. Days & hours of operation:
d. Total number of employees:
e. Describe any outdoor activity proposed, including area square footage:

f. Number of parking spaces, pursuant to Sec. L-II 4.2.9.f. of Zoning Regulations:

Required Proposed 
Regular stalls:   _______ _______ 
Compact stalls: _______ _______ 
Wheelchair accessible:  _______ _______ 

TOTAL: 

g. Are loading bays or drop off areas proposed or required?

18. Building Characteristics of each proposed building:
a. Building size in square feet (existing and proposed):

1st floor 3rd floor 
2nd floor 4th floor 

b. If assembly area without fixed seats, state UBC and/or designed occupancy:
c. Building height, measured from average finished grade to highest point
d. Proposed exterior building:

Materials Colors 
Roofing:  
Siding:  
Trim: 
Windows: 

e. Describe proposed architectural features or details (roof overhangs, offsets, wainscoting,
etc) incorporated to comply with applicable County Design Guidelines:

19. Building Permits: List any building or grading permits related to this project that have been
applied for and/or issued.

business

Monday-Sunday 9am- 6pm 
10-15

seating and dining and occasional workshops.

n/a

no

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

1200 sq ft in patio and 200 sq ft in front the building



7/08 Printed on Recycled Paper Form # 3 
Page 19 of 20 

20. Signage:
___ A Comprehensive Sign Plan been submitted that identifies:

___ a. Number of signs 
___ b. Total sign square footage 
___ c. Sign style (wall sign, monument, free-standing) 
___ d. Sign lighting 
___ e. Sign placement/location 
___ f. Design, e.g., colors, materials, lettering style 

21. Residential Projects
a. Number of dwelling units:

Single-family
Multiple-family

b. If multiple family or condominium project, number of dwelling units with:
One Bedroom    Two Bedrooms
Three Bedrooms    Four or More Bedrooms

c. Does this project include a conversion of residential real property to a condominium
project?   ___ yes    ___no

If yes, have you provided tenant notice pursuant to Sec. 66427.4 of the Subdivision Map
Act, and attached a report on the impact to tenants are required by Sec. 66427.4?   
___ yes ___ no 

If yes, you must provide verification of such notice. 
Is that documentation attached?   ___ yes ___ no 

I understand that failure to provide a complete and accurate response to all questions on this 
form may deem this application incomplete and may result in project processing delays. 

Signature of  (  ) Property Owner(s)  or  (  ) Authorized Representative that completed this document: 

Date: 

no

n/a

8/2/2020



37'-7" 8'-10"

8'-0" CLR

26'-4"

5'
-1

0"

8'-1"

Scale: 1/4"=1'-0"

SITE PLAN1 A-001

SITE PLAN

8/4/2020

00 4' 8'

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

JG

SEAL & SIGNATURE: DATE:

DRAWN BY:

PAGE #:

DRAWING TITLE:

DATENO. DESCRIPTION

PROJECT

ARCHITECT OF RECORD

STRUCTURAL/CIVIL ENGINEER

426 BROAD STREET
NEVADA CITY, CA 95959

APN: 005-120-052

ENERGY CONSULTANT

DESIGN
DEVELOPMENT

FIRE PROTECTION ENGINEER

OWNER

RACHEL BUDDE
CLIENT ADDRESS
CITY, STATE, ZIP
PHONE: 646.338.2228
EMAIL: FATANDTHEMOON@GMAIL.COM

101 W. MCKNIGHT WAY, SUITE B, #178
GRASS VALLEY, CA 95949
PHONE: 612.237.7332
EMAIL: JOGARST@GMAIL.COM



The proposed use of the outdoor patio space at 426 Broad St. by Kosmos Spa(ce) will function 
in the same way as the previous owners' use: a gathering, seating and dining area for patrons. 
The patio will be using the same patio furniture, (tables, chairs and umbrellas) as the previous 
establishment. The noise level will be conversational, and may, at times, have acoustic music 
during business hours (which is consistent with the previous establishments uses). 
Anticipated business hours will be from 9am-6pm 7 days a week.  
Kosmos Spa(ce) will employ 10-15 people. 
The square footage of the patio totals 1400 sq ft.  







City of Nevada City 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TO:  Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

HEARING DATE:  August 20, 2020 

RE: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY ADDING SECTION 17.80.240 
IN ORDER TO UPDATE THE CITY’S ORDINANCE PERTAINING TO 
STATIONARY STANDBY GENERATORS 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Draft Resolution Recommending a Notice of Exemption (Stationary Standby Generator 

Ordinance)
2. Draft Ordinance 2020-XX (Stationary Standby Generator Ordinance) 

BACKGROUND: Staff has received several requests for processing commercial and residential 
generators to be used in the event of emergency electrical power outages, with particular concern about 
PG&E Public Safety Power Shut-Off events. The Municipal Code does not currently include land use 
regulations specific to standby generators. There are currently no standards for location or aesthetics 
and in some cases no clear authority to permit at all, or else a requirement for a lengthy conditional use 
permit process. At their July 23, 2020 meeting, City Council directed staff to prepare and present an 
Ordinance option to regulate commercial and residential generators in a manner that provides objective 
standards for administrative processing 

DRAFT ORDINANCE (Stationary Standby Generators): The draft Ordinance provides objective 
standards in terms of aesthetics, noise attenuation, and other land use parameters so that there is an 
administrative process available to businesses and residential applicants seeking to install a stationary 
standby generator to provide power during emergency electrical power outages. As drafted, any 
generator with a power output in excess of 10,000 watts would require a Conditional Use Permit. 
Anything below that power output could be processed through a Minor Architectural Review 
application subject to the standards outlined in the Ordinance with a supplemental application material 
checklist as outlined. These generators would only be permitted to run “during interruptions of 
electrical service from the distribution system or transmission grid due to circumstances beyond the 
operator’s control.” The Ordinance also requires that an applicant demonstrate screening if placed 
within a street-side setback and requires that it be placed in a manner visible from public views if 
proposed within the Historic District. Generators are also required to comply with the City’s Noise 
Ordinance outlined in Chapter 8.20 of the Municipal Code. Note that staff is currently working on an 
update of the Noise Ordinance to allow for a specific exception to noise standards that will be 
applicable to emergency generator use, to allow for a modest increase in decibel limits. 

NOTICING: The Use Permit was distributed for agency comment on August 7, 2020. Notice of the 
public hearing was published in the Union newspaper August 8, 2020.  As of the writing of this staff 
report, no public comments have been received.  



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: Staff recommends that the project be found exempt from 
environmental review pursuant to §15301 (Class 1) of the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) guidelines. The CEQA Guidelines for Categorical Exemption §15301, allows for operation, 
repair, maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or private 
structures, facilities, mechanical equipment, or topographical features, involving negligible or no 
expansion of use beyond that existing at the time of the lead agency’s determination. Consistent with 
this exemption, the Ordinance will regulate stationary standby generators to provide power to 
existing permitted uses and only during electrical emergency power outage events and will not 
provide for an expansion of use.   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

1. Recommend to City Council that that they approve Resolution 2020-XX finding Draft 
Ordinance 2020-XX is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to 
CEQA Guidelines Sections 15301 
 

2. Recommend to City Council that they adopt Draft Ordinance 2020-XX to add Section 
17.80.240 in order to update the city’s ordinance pertaining to stationary standby generators  

 
 
 



 
RESOLUTION 2020-XX                     

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
NEVADA CITY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA,  
APPROVING A NOTICE OF EXEMPTION  

(DRAFT ORDINANCE 2020-XX OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY ADDING SECTION 17.80.240 
IN ORDER TO UPDATE THE CITY’S ORDINANCE PERTAINING TO STATIONARY STANDBY 

GENERATORS) 

WHEREAS, City staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the Ordinance Adding 
SECTION 17.80.240 Of Title 17 Of The Nevada City Municipal Code Entitled “AN ORDINANCE 
OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY ADDING SECTION 17.80.240 IN ORDER TO UPDATE THE 
CITY’S ORDINANCE PERTAINING TO STATIONARY STANDBY GENERATORS” (“Project”) and 
determined that it is exempt from review under the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to 
Title 14, Chapter 3, California Code of Regulations: 

The subject Ordinance is categorically exempt from review under CEQA Guidelines 
§15301 (Class 1) of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guidelines. The 
CEQA Guidelines for Categorical Exemption §15301, allows for operation, repair, 
maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or 
private structures, facilities, mechanical equipment, or topographical features, involving 
negligible or no expansion of use beyond that existing at the time of the lead agency’s 
determination; and. 

WHEREAS the Ordinance will regulate stationary standby generators to provide power to existing 
permitted uses only during electrical emergency power outage events and will not provide for an 
expansion of use;  

WHEREAS, a Notice of Exemption has been prepared for the Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City as follows: 

Section 1. Based on the review and determination of the Planning Department, the Planning 
Commission of the City of Nevada City finds that the Project is exempt from review under the 
California Environmental Quality Act. 

Section 2. The Notice of Exemption attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is recommended for approval for 
the Project. 

Section 3. Upon approval of the Project by the City Council, the City Clerk may file the Notice of 
Exemption with the County Clerk of Nevada County and, if the Project requires a discretionary 
approval from any state agency, with the State Office of Planning and Research, pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 21152(b) of the Public Resources Code and the State EIR Guidelines 
adopted pursuant thereto. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City at a public 
meeting held on the ______ of ___________________, 2020. 

 

_______________________________________ 
                         Erin Minett, Mayor 

ATTEST:   

By:  __________________________________     
      NIEL LOCKE, CITY CLERK 



Resolution 2020-XX, Exhibit 1 
 

NOTICE OF EXEMPTION 
TO:  Office of Planning and Research  FROM:  City of Nevada City 
  1400 Tenth Street       317 Broad Street 
  Sacramento, CA 95814      Nevada City, CA 95959 
 

 Nevada County Clerk/Recorder’s Office 
Environmental Filings 
Eric W. Rood Administrative Center 
950 Maidu Avenue, Nevada City CA 95959 
 

Project Title:  ORDINANCE 2020-XX OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY ADDING SECTION 
17.80.240 IN ORDER TO UPDATE THE CITY’S ORDINANCE PERTAINING TO STATIONARY 
STANDBY GENERATORS 
Project Address:  317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California 95959 
Project Location – City: City of Nevada City 
Project Location – County: Nevada 
Project Description:  The ordinance amends the Nevada City Municipal Code to add Chapter 
17.80.240 to allow the City to regulate stationary standby generators providing power to existing 
permitted uses during emergency electrical power outage events.  
Name of Public Agency Approving Project: City of Nevada City 
Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project:  City of Nevada City 
Exempt Status:  (Check One) 
  Ministerial (Section 21080(b)(1); 15268); 
  Declared Emergency (Section 21080(b)(3); 15269(a)); 
  Emergency Project (Section 21080(b)(4); 15269(b)(c)); 
       “Common Sense” Exception (Section 15061(b)(3)) 
__ X  Categorical Exemption.  Type and section numbers: 15301 
       Statutory Exemptions. State code number:  
Reasons why project is exempt: The subject Ordinance is categorically exempt from review 
under CEQA Guidelines §15301 (Class 1) of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
guidelines. The CEQA Guidelines for Categorical Exemption §15301, allows for operation, repair, 
maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or private 
structures, facilities, mechanical equipment, or topographical features, involving negligible or no 
expansion of use beyond that existing at the time of the lead agency’s determination 
 
Lead Agency Contact Person: Amy Wolfson, City Planner      Number: 530-265-2496x130 
 
Signature & Title:          Date:      
 

�  Signed by Lead Agency    � Signed by Applicant Date received for filing:    



 
1 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-XX 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY ADDING 
SECTION 17.80.240 IN ORDER TO UPDATE THE CITY’S 
ORDINANCE PERTAINING TO STATIONARY STANDBY 
GENERATORS 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City, California ("City") is a municipal corporation, 
duly organized under the constitution and laws of the State of California; and 

 
WHEREAS, the utility PG&E has implemented a Public Safety Power Shutoff (PSPS) 

program whereby all customers in any given area could have their power shut off for multiple 
days; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City has received recent inquiries from residents and 

business owners about the use of generators for homes and commercial businesses. 
 
WHEREAS, the noise ordinance of the City of Nevada City Municipal Code provides 

for measures to protect the peace and quiet of neighborhoods and community solitude and 
does not anticipate the possibility of PG&E power shutoffs and resulting interest in backup 
generators for homes and businesses; and 

 
WHEREAS, the zoning ordinance of the City of Nevada City Municipal Code provides 

for measures to protect the aesthetics of neighborhoods and the community and does 
adequately address aesthetics of backup generators for homes and businesses; and 

 
WHEREAS, on July 23, 2020, City Council requested that an item be placed on the 

City Council agenda to consider possible adoption of an ordinance providing for an 
administrative process to allow backup generators during emergency electrical power 
interruptions  

 
WHEREAS, such generators can be an important safety element during a power 

outage by maintaining power for refrigeration systems and medical equipment. 
 
WHEREAS, on August 20, 2020, the Planning Commission held a duly-noticed public 

hearing and considered the staff report, recommendations by staff, and public testimony 
concerning the proposed ordinance;  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council held a duly-noticed public hearing for a first reading on 

______________________, and a second reading on ______________________and 
considered the staff report, recommendations by staff,  recommendations by the Planning 
Commission, and public testimony concerning the proposed ordinance;  

 



 
 

 
NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY DOES 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Section 17.80.240 is hereby added to read as follows: 
17.80.240 – Stationary Standby Generators—Purpose and definitions.  
A. Purpose. The City of Nevada City finds and declares that stationary standby 

generators can be an important safety feature during an electrical power outage by 
maintaining power for refrigeration systems and medical equipment. If unregulated, 
standby generators can be noise and aesthetic nuisances and can also compromise 
the safety and welfare of the community.    

 
It is the intent of Nevada City to encourage use of stationary standby generators 
during temporary interruptions in electrical power and, additionally, to impose 
standards will enhance the safety of the community without compromising aesthetics 
or the quite enjoyment of neighborhoods  
 

B. Findings. 
 (1) It is necessary to regulate the aesthetic impacts of stationary standby 

generators, because if stationary standby generators are located in areas without 
locational regulations or screening requirements they may be unsightly and 
therefore, detract from the aesthetic and design requirements of the Nevada City 
Municipal Code requirements thereby leading to a decline in property values within 
the City. 

 (2)  Regulating air quality impacts of stationary standby generators in necessary 
to protect the health and safety of residents and visitors, because without air quality 
limits exhaust from individual or collective stationary standby generators may cause 
respiratory and health problems. 

 (3) Regulating noise levels and hours of operations of stationary standby 
generators is necessary to protect the health and safety of residents and visitors 
because exposure to excessive noise levels, especially for prolonged periods, 
causes hearing damage or loss and other health conditions.   

    
C. Definitions.  
(1) “Stationary standby generator” means a non-portable, hardwired generator intended 

for permanent installation.   
 
 
17.80.241 – Stationary Standby Generators—General.  
 
(A) A stationary standby generator may operate only during interruptions of electrical 

service from the distribution system or transmission grid due to circumstances 
beyond the operator’s control.  



 
 

(B) Prior to installation of a stationary standby generator, the property owner shall obtain a 
Minor Architectural Review approval from the City Planning Department.  
Applications must meet the criteria set forth in Section 17.80.242.  

 
17.80.242 – Stationary Standby Generators—Application for Stationary Standby Generator 
permit.  
 
A.   A Minor Architectural Review approval may be issued only for proposals that meet 

and continue to conform with all requirements below and as specified in the City of 
Nevada City Municipal Code.  
(1) Stationary standby generators that have a power output of 10,000 watts or 

less may be located in all zones within the City except for Open Space (OS). 
Any Generator with a power output in excess of 10,000 watts shall be 
approved with a Conditional Use Permit. 

(2) Air Quality: An Authority to Construct/Permit to Operate issued by the 
Northern Sierra Air Quality Management District (NSAQMD) is required for 
any diesel-fired generator engine greater than 50 horsepower before such 
generator is placed into operation. Such permits shall be good for one year 
and renewed on an annual basis.  

(3) Noise Standards:  
a. Applicant shall demonstrate that the generator complies with noise 

standards outlined in Chapter 8.20 of the City Municipal Code. 
b.   Test cycles shall only run during day time hours of 7AM to 9PM. 

(4) Aesthetics:  
a. All stationary standby generators shall be located outside of the 

front yard setback or outside a corner street-side yard unless 
adequate screening by fencing, landscaping or other method is 
demonstrated on the site plan.  

b. All stationary standby generators proposed within the Historic 
District shall be located in such a manner so as not to be visible 
from public views. 

(5) Location: Stationary standby generators shall not be allowed within a 
property easement unless the easement expressly permits the generator. 

(6) Safety: Stationary standby generators shall be equipped with a disconnect 
pursuant to Section 15.08.045, Auxiliary Power Generator, of the City 
Municipal Code. 

(7) Following the City’s Minor Architectural Review approval, the applicant shall 
obtain an electrical/plumbing permit from the Nevada County Building 
Department, acting on behalf of the City. 

 
B.   A minor architectural review application shall be submitted by the owner of the 

parcel and shall be filed with the city planner on the city-approved application form 
and subject to the established fee and the following additional checklist: 

 
(1) A digital copy of the site plan or three (3) copies if hard copies are submitted;  



 
 

(2) The brand, model, KW-output stationary standby generator to be installed; 
(3) The brand, model, and specifications of the transfer switch to be utilized; 
(4) Location of stationary standby generator, transfer switch, raceways, and fuel 

gas piping to/from unit, mounting surface of stationary standby generator; 
(5) Size dimensions of the stationary standby generator; 
(6) Type of fuel supply for the stationary standby generator; and 
(8) Signed “Stationary Standby Generator Declaration.” 

 
SECTION 2.  CEQA. This Ordinance is exempt from the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA) under CEQA Guidelines section 15301 because CEQA only applies to 
projects which have the potential to have a significant impact on the environment and 
because the installation of an emergency standby generator will serve an existing  permitted 
commercial or residential use of the property and will not involve an expansion of that use, 
but rather allows for continuance of the permitted use during temporary interruptions of 
electrical power. 

 
SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective on the 31st day 

after adoption.   
 
SECTION 4.  Severability.  If any portion of this ordinance is found to be 

unenforceable, each such provision shall be severed, and all remaining portions of this 
ordinance shall be enforced to the maximum extent legally permissible. 

 
SECTION 5.  Certification.  The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption 

of this ordinance as required by law.   
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this ___th day of ______2020 by the 
following vote: 
 
AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:   
NOES: COUNCILMEMBERS:   
ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS:   

 
____________________________ 
Erin Minett, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
_______________________________ 
Crystal Hodgson, City Attorney  



 
 

I, Niel Locke, City Clerk of Nevada City, do hereby certify that the foregoing 
urgency ordinance was introduced and adopted at a meeting thereof on the ____day of 
____________ 2018. 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

 



          City of Nevada City 

TO:  Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
Bryan McAlister, City Engineer 

MEETING  DATE:  August 20, 2020 

RE: Pedestrian Friendly Commercial Street Project 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Commercial Street Conceptual Plan
2. SB 1 Fact Sheet

BACKGROUND: On February 7, 2018 City Council directed City staff to identify and present 
options for one-way or closed streets for downtown as part of their six-month strategic objectives.  
City staff worked with the Future of Nevada County (FoNC), a citizen group, to develop options for 
pedestrian friendly streets. This included a public participation process for consideration of various 
options for pedestrian friendly streets including partial closure, full closure or one-way streets. This 
process included resident and merchant surveys, three public workshops (March 8, 2018, June 2, 
2018 and July 24, 2018), and City staff review by Police/ Fire/ Public Works and Engineering 
Departments. Notices of public meetings were posted in the Union newspaper, and sent by mail to 
members of Chamber of Commerce and hand delivered to property owners located along portions of 
Commercial Street and York Street. Lower Commercial Street and York Street were identified as 
potential project sites suitable for pedestrian-friendly streetscape/town square space. Survey results 
were presented to the City Council on September 12, 2018. 

At the January 23rd, 2019 City Council meeting, a project plan for a more pedestrian friendly 
Commercial Street was presented for preliminary review and public comment. City staff received 
comments and direction was directed by Council to prepare a traffic study prior to further review. 
City staff subsequently collected traffic data for lower Commercial Street in its configuration as a 
narrow two-way street with the boardwalk.  

Photo of 
Commercial 
Street operating 
as a two-way 
street.  



Commercial Street 
8-20-2020 PC Staff Report 
Page 2 of 3 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

On Jan. 23, 2019 City Staff also received City Council input on the plan requesting 1) that the street 
remain open for vehicular traffic (with consideration of one-way);  2) that parking be preserved 
where possible and 4) that the re-design of Commercial Street be presented to the Planning 
Commission for project review.  
 
On April 24, 2019 City Council approved a One-Way Street Pilot Project, to allow the continuation 
of the traffic study to observe the traffic circulation and pedestrian activity with a one-way street and 
to allow time for driver awareness and traffic patterns to change and adjust to the one-way street 
conversion. Signage for the one-way street was put in place by City Public Works and over a 6 
month period, City staff from the Police, Fire, Public Works and Engineering Departments monitored 
the streets as it relates to traffic flow, safety and circulation.    On January 8, 2020, City Council was 
presented with the field review data and analysis of One-Way Street Pilot Project, and approved the 
permanent posting of one-way streets at York Street (between Broad and Commercial) and 
Commercial Street (between Main and Broad). 
 
On May 8, 2020 City staff submitted a project nomination for SB1 funding (as authorized by 
Resolution 2018-31).     SB1 funding is expected to contribute approximately 50% of the funding for 
the overall project.    Senate Bill 1 (SB 1 ), is the Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017 
(Chapter 5, Statutes of 2017) passed by the Legislature and Signed into law by the Governor in April 
2017 to address the significant multi-modal transportation funding shortfalls statewide.    On August 
13, 2020 California Transportation Commission voted to approve the City’s allocation request.   
 
APPLICATION: Phase II Commercial Street improvements consists of roadway rehabilitation of 
approximately 600 linear feet of Commercial Street, widening of the sidewalk, enhanced at 
intersections to provide safe, convenient and efficient pedestrian access within the Downtown 
Historic District.    The project includes replacement of deteriorated pavement and sidewalks and 
drainage improvements.    Phase I improvements are substantially complete and consisted of 
underground utility pipe replacements for Water, Sewer and Storm Drain.     The remaining utility 
work will be completed with Phase II. 
 
 
 
Anticipated benefits of Commercial Street Phase II (Project) consists of: 

• Pavement and sidewalk rehabilitation to extend useful life of the roadway 
• Improved roadway intersections and crosswalks for pedestrian safety and for reduction of 

pedestrian / vehicle conflicts 
• Compliance with current building codes and ADA requirements 
• Provision for safe, convenient and efficient pedestrian access within the Downtown 

Historic District 
• Improved cross-slope for drainage 
• Reduced traffic congestion by improving circulation with proper travel lane widths and curb 

returns at intersections, which is expected to reduce vehicle emissions. 
• Accommodation of the frequent use by multiple-modes of transportation, including 

pedestrian and vehicular use and bike parking with connectivity to businesses, government 
buildings, restaurants, shops and bars. 

 
Commercial Street sustains significant use by pedestrians and vehicles both during the work day and 
during evenings and weekends due to the restaurants, shops and bars in this area. The heavy use has 
contributed to the postponement of much needed street rehabilitation, due to relative inconvenience 
to users of the corridor. Rehabilitation and resurfacing of the street was last completed in the 1980’s. 



Commercial Street 
8-20-2020 PC Staff Report 
Page 3 of 3 
 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

In 2017, the City Council prioritized this street for rehabilitation to extend its useful life by 20 years 
or more.     
 
ENVIRONMENTAL: On May 13, 2020, City Council adopted Resolution 2020-29, a Resolution of 
the City Council of the City of Nevada City, State of California, approving a Notice of Exemption 
(NOE) for Commercial Street Phase II Improvements 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 

a. After considering public comment and reviewing the Commercial Street Phase II 
conceptual plan, make a recommendation to City Council to proceed with Phase II 
pedestrian-friendly street improvements with modification as needed.  

 



GSPublisherEngine 0.0.100.100

L R
E

B
E

CC A
A CO F F MAN

#
4

4
5

1

Signature

Renewal Date

Date

IC
E

N
S

E D A R C H I T E C T

S T A T E O F C A L I F O R N I A

L
R

E
B

E
CC A

A CO F F MAN
#

3
4

5
5

5

Signature

Renewal Date

Date

I C
E N S E D A R C H I T E

C
T

S T A T E O F C A L I F O R N I A

L A N D S C A P E

ISSUE:

REVISIONS:
NO. DATE DESCRIPTION

DATE

DRAWN BY

COPYRIGHT

SCALE

NOTE: FULL SCALE PLANS ARE PRINTED ON 22"x 34" SIZE
             SHEETS - (11x17 SHEETS ARE HALF SCALE)

SHEET

OF     SHEETS

A1.0

PROPOSED
SITE PLAN

SR | RC

2020

COMMERCIAL
STREETSCAPE
RENOVATION

13 Aug 2020

\\R
C

LA
-W

IN
D

O
W

\P
ub

lic
 D

is
k\

R
C

LA
\C

LI
EN

T 
PR

O
JE

C
TS

\2
02

0\
C

om
m

er
ci

al
 S

t\0
4-

C
D

s\
C

om
m

er
ci

al
 S

t.p
ln

NEVADA CITY

MARCH 31, 2021

8/13/2020

8/13/2020

MARCH 31, 2021

14
'

14
'

16
'

9x9 POST 12x12 POST

10x10 POST

14x18 POST

LIGHT POST

LIGHT POST

LIGHT POST

PARKING METER

PARKING METER

6x6 POST

6" POST
2" POST

8" POST
3x6 POST

PARKING METER

8" POST

3x6 POST

METAL FENCED
IN PATIO

BIKE PARKING

LIGHT POST

LIGHT POSTLIGHT POST

LIGHT POST

LIGHT POST

LIGHT POST

LIGHT POST

LIGHT POST

LIGHT POST

LIGHT POST

BILLARDS

BILLARDS

FH

FIRE ALARM POST

HCP PARK SIGN

FH

STOP/STREET
SIGN

SIGNPOST

DRWY

BENCH

FH

238
SUSHI

242
CARRINGTON

236
SOUL
CRAFT

244
JJ
JACKSON

246
SARAH'S
EARTHLY
TREASURES

234 TWO
LITTLE BIRDS

232
CLAVEY 230

CRAZY HORSE

228
PIZZA JT.

220
INNER PATH

MASONIC
LODGE

FRIAR
TUCKS

241
RETAIL/
OFFICE 239

GRILL

237
HEART
WOOD

235

THE BRICK

(COOPERS)
211
3 FORKS

PARKING

DISTRICT
ATTORNEY

LIGHT POST

PARK METER

PARK METER

RAMP
SIGN

PARKING

PARKING

PARK METER

PARK METER

PARK METER

HCP PARK SIGN

PARKING

PARKING

SIGN

PARKING

PARKING

FH

SHIVA MOON

TREATS

MAIN STREET
KIDS

FIRE HOUSE
NO.1 MUSEUM

MAIN STREET
ANTIQUES

WHEYWARD GIRL
CREAMERY

PARKING

PARKING

RAMP

RAM
P

RAMP

RAM
P

PARK METER

STOP SIGN

STOP SIGN

RAMP

RAMP

PARK METER

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

RAMP

RAMP

RAMP

RAMP

RAMP

COMMERCIAL
STREET

UN
IO

N

AL
LE

Y

M
AIN  

 
STREET

NO
RT

H 
 

PI
NE

N

SCALE: 1"   = 20'1 PROPOSED SITE PLAN



 For more information about the Road Repair and Accountability Act, visit rebuildingca.ca.gov 

   

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Transportation Connects Our Lives 

Going to work. Shopping. Visiting family and friends. 

Attending events in our historic downtown.  These 

day‐to‐day activities connect us to what’s important, 

and they require a transportation system that works 

in Nevada City.    The better our infrastructure, the 

better our quality of life. Just as repairs to your home 

or vehicle have to be made, maintaining our 

transportation infrastructure is equally important. 

Funds for Transportation Infrastructure 

The Gas Tax, or Senate Bill 1 (SB 1), is the Road 

Repair and Accountability Act of 2017, which was 

approved by California’s Legislature in April 2017. 

The Gas Tax generates funds for our 

transportation infrastructure through increased 

gasoline taxes and annual vehicle fees.  

 
What the Gas Tax Provides for Nevada City 

The City of Nevada City is expected to receive 

approximately $100,000 ‐ $200,000 per year in Gas Tax 

revenue, which adds nearly 20‐30% for transportation 

maintenance and upgrades in Nevada City.    

          

Highlighted Project:   

 Commercial Street Phase II 

Shown  here  is  the  Commercial  Street  Phase  II 

project in the City of Nevada City.   The project is 

expected to be completed in 2021.     

Commercial  Street  is  a  historic  street, 

constructed  in  the  1850’s.      Commercial  Street 

Phase  II  (Project)  consists  of  roadway 

rehabilitation  of  Commercial  Street  within  the 

project  limits.    Sidewalk  will  be  widened  and 

enhanced  at  intersections  to  provide  safe, 

convenient and efficient pedestrian access within 

the  Downtown  Historic  District.                                 

Project improvements include: 

‐ replacement of deteriorated pavement  

‐ drainage improvements 

‐ Improved roadway intersections and crosswalks for 
pedestrian safety  

‐ Provision for safe, convenient and efficient pedestrian      
access within the Downtown Historic District   

 
Project Cost: 

The total estimated project cost is $400,000 

 
 

 


	Kosmos CUP PCSR 8-20-20wATT.pdf
	ATT 2 2003-SD-V2_BROAD STREET-A001-SITE PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	SITE PLAN



	Generator  PC Staff Report 8-20-2020wATT.pdf
	ATT1- PC Reso NOE - Generator ORD.pdf
	NOTICE OF EXEMPTION

	ATT 2 Generators Ordinance (cvh alw).pdf
	ORDINANCE NO. 2020-XX
	AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:
	Erin Minett, Mayor
	ATTEST:
	Niel Locke, City Clerk
	APPROVED AS TO FORM


	Commercial Street Improvements PC SR 8-20-20wATT.pdf
	2020-08-13_COMMERCIAL ST_SITE PLAN.pdf
	2020-08-13_COMMERCIAL ST_SITE PLAN
	PROPOSED SITE PLAN
	A1.0 PROPOSED SITE PLAN




	PG&E Tree Removal PC SR 8-20-20 wATT.pdf
	ATT 1 Nevada City Tree Removal Application.pdf
	317 Broad Street  • Nevada City, California 95959 • (530) 265-2496
	Checklist for application submittal:  Please include the following items as applicable:
	317 Broad Street • Nevada City, California 95959 • (530) 265-2496
	A City permit is required for removal of any tree with a cumulative diameter at breast height (cbdh) of 4" or greater (Mandrone, Manzanita, Oak); or 6" or greater (all other trees). An arborist's report may also be required. See Ordinance 2004-09 (Cit...
	Owner/Representative:       Phone #:
	Permit Date:__________________________________ Expiration  Date: _________________________________
	Remarks (Mitigation/Protection Measures): __________________________________________________
	Approved by:


	ATT 5 Picture Exhibit- All pics.pdf
	639WBroadSt_facingwest_nearPole645
	656WBroadSt_Overview_OverhangingLeaning
	656WBroadSt_UnderlineView_OverhangingLeaning
	BroadSt_FacingNorth_Lines_canopyLean
	BroadSt_FacingNorth_StreetView
	CatholicCemetery_FacingNorth_Intersection
	CatholicCemetery_FacingNorth_Intersection_zoom
	PioneerCemetery_Overview
	Pole670_facingN_ExcessiveVegetationUnderline
	pole670_Overview_density
	Broad Street 2.pdf
	Streetview_WBroadSt_fromPole645_facingSouth
	SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_infestedpine
	SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_infestedpine_canopy
	SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_infestedpine_dbh10
	SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_infestedpine_trunk
	SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_infestedpines
	SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_Overview_1of2
	SWCorner_PioneerCemetery_Overview_2of2
	VP_AV115-H23_1723906_2020_DeadTopCedar_Antena
	VP_AV115-H23_1727735_2020
	VP_AV115-H23_1733000_2020_topped_failing_underline

	Broad Street 3.pdf
	VP_AV115-H23_1733042_2020_entiretree_deadunderline
	VP_AV115-H23_1733042_2020_FungusZoom
	VP_AV115-H23_1733273_2020_overview_severelean_highlighted
	VP_AV115-H23_1733273_2020_overview_severelean_original
	VP_AV115-H23_1733588_2020_MassiveWound
	VP_AV115-H23_1733725_2020_branchdieback
	VP_AV115-H23_1733725_2020_EntireTree
	VP_AV115-H23_1734148_2020_Dead
	VP_AV115-H24_1728969_2020_view_withlines

	Broad Street 4.pdf
	VP_AV115-H24_1728969_2020_wholetree_forkedcrown
	VP_AV115-H24_1729472_2020_canopy
	VP_AV115-H24_1729472_2020_canopyzoom
	VP_AV115-H24_1729472_2020_EntireTree
	VP_AV115-H24_1729472_2020_entiretree_fromBroadSt
	VP_AV115-H24_1729851_2020_basalforaging
	VP_AV115-H24_1729851_2020_base
	VP_AV115-H24_1729851_2020_canopy
	VP_AV115-H24_1729851_2020_frontDBH_foraging
	VP_AV115-H24_1729852_2020_LeftLean_VP_AV115-H24_1729851_RightCanopyDecline

	Broad Street 5.pdf
	VP_AV115-H24_1729852_2020_LeftLean_VP_AV115-H24_1729851_RightCanopyDecline_2
	VP_AV115-H24_1729854_2020
	VP_AV115-H24_1729870_2020_basalwound
	VP_AV115-H24_1729870_2020_beetles
	VP_AV115-H24_1729870_2020_farthertree_blackdefects
	VP_AV115-H24_1730012_2020_basalwound
	VP_AV115-H24_1730012_2020_basalwound_zoom
	VP_AV115-H24_1730488_2020_defects
	VP_AV115-H24_1732185_2020 ATLAS CEDAR

	Broad Street 6.pdf
	VP_AV115-H24_1732185_2020_canopy ATLAS CEDAR
	VP_AV115-H24_1732185_2020_Pole ATLAS CEDAR
	VP_AV115-H24_1732185_2020_wholetree ATLAS CEDAR
	VP_AV115-H24_1733184_2020_EntireTree

	Orchard Street 1.pdf
	133OrchardSt_refusal_pole226
	OrchardSt_facingN_fromPole226
	OrchardSt_facingS_fromPole9357
	OrchardSt_FacingSouth
	Pole198_facingWest_DenseOverhang
	Pole198_PinesOverhanging_ViewfromCatholicCemetery
	Pole198_tapfacingEast_vegetationunderline_overhanging
	Pole198_ViewfromBelow
	Pole198_ViewWest_AlongCatholicCemetery
	Pole9357_FacingSouth
	VP_AV115-H23_1725715_2020_Canopy

	Orchard Street 2.pdf
	VP_AV115-H23_1725715_2020_EntireTree
	VP_AV115-H24_1722090_2020_SevereLeanOverhang
	VP_AV115-H24_1722090_2020_SevereLeanOverhang_ViewFromBelow
	VP_AV115-H24_1724895_2020_Dead_PoleView
	VP_AV115-H24_1725170_2020_Dead
	VP_AV115-H24_1726922_2020_heavybeetleinfestation
	VP_AV115-H24_1726922_2020_heavybeetleinfestation_uppertrunk
	VP_AV115-H24_1731192_2020_Overhang_Beetles


	PSPS_Nevada_City_-Staff Modified2.pdf
	PSPS_Nevada_City_08052020_Veg_P



	To Agenda: 


